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ASEAN

Association of Southeast Asian Nations

AWARD

African Women in Agricultural Research and Development

CIFOR

Center for International Forestry Research

CGIAR

Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research

FAO

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations

IAS

International Accounting Standards

ISA

International Standards on Auditing

ICRAF

World Agroforestry

IFRS

International Financial Reporting Standards

ILO

International Labour Organization

NGO

Non-governmental organization

UNEP

United Nations Environment Programme

WIP

Work in Progress
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About
World Agroforestry

World Agroforestry (ICRAF) is a centre of scientific excellence that harnesses the benefits of trees for people and the
environment. Leveraging the world’s largest repository of agroforestry science and information, we develop knowledge and
practices for farmers’ fields and the global sphere to ensure food security and environmental sustainability.
ICRAF is the only institution conducting globally significant agroforestry research in – and for – all the developing tropics.
Knowledge produced by ICRAF allows governments, development agencies and farmers to use the power of trees to make
farming livelihoods more environmentally, socially and economically sustainable at scale.
We are guided by the broad development challenges pursued by CGIAR, a global research partnership for a food-secure
future, which include poverty reduction, increasing food and nutritional security, and improved natural resource systems and
environmental services. ICRAF’s work also addresses many of the issues being tackled by the Sustainable Development Goals
(SDGs), specifically those that aim to eradicate hunger, reduce poverty, provide affordable and clean energy, protect life on
land, and combat climate change.

Our Vision
An equitable world where all people have viable livelihoods supported by healthy and productive landscapes.

Our Mission
To harness the multiple benefits trees, provide for agriculture, livelihoods, resilience and the future of our planet, from farmers’
fields through to the continental scale.

Our Value Offering
ICRAF possesses the world’s largest repository of agroforestry science and related information, expertise, published literature,
methodologies, databases, partnership networks and tree germplasm. With regard to rural landscapes and livelihoods, we are
the preferred partner to engage for:
•

Providing robust evidence and analyses;

•

Making available social and technical solutions;

•

Assisting with design, decision and scenario options; and

•

Developing capacities, capabilities and partnerships.

Our operating principles and values
ICRAF’s three operating principles focus on:

• People: collaboration and partnerships, learning and attracting, nurturing and rewarding talent;
• Science: quality science, communicating for accelerated impact, value for money and testing development options; and
• Processes: efficiency and effectiveness, accountability, subsidiarity and empowerment.
These operating principles are reinforced by our four core values of Professionalism, Creativity, Mutual Respect and Inclusivity.
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About Us

Our Priority Themes
We work with cross-sectoral and transdisciplinary approaches with greatest attention around four priority themes. These are:
•

Systems: resilient livelihood systems;

•

Trees: tree productivity and diversity;

•

Soils: land health decisions; and

•

Landscapes: greening tree crop landscapes.

The themes are supported by a Science Quality Platform and an Accelerating Impact, Learning and Capacity Development
Platform.

Our Regional Programmes
ICRAF’s research and development work spans the global, regional, national, sub-national and local levels. The centre
operates through six regional programmes:
•

East and Southern Africa;

•

West and Central Africa;

•

South East Asia;

•

East and Central Asia;

•

South Asia

•

Latin America.

Our People
The organization comprises 490 staff from a wide array of disciplines including forestry, agriculture, economics, soil science,
social science, administration, monitoring and evaluation, communications and information and communications technologies.
The high-level skills and expertise of its personnel ensure that the Centre has the capacity to conduct quality research and use
it to advance policies and practices that benefit poor people and the environment.

Our Partners
World Agroforestry has always implemented its work in partnership with a range of public, private and international bodies.
Our partnerships are based on a clear recognition of the value added through working jointly with partners and sharing our
strengths to achieve targeted outcomes. We partner with universities, advanced research institutions, national agricultural
research organizations, private-sector organizations, governments and non-governmental organizations (NGOs) in the fields of
agriculture, forestry, environment, conservation and climate change.
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Five-Year Performance Review

Five-Year
Performance Review
Gross Grant Income (2014-2018)

Gross Grant Income (20142018)
Grant revenue increased by 5.4%
to US$55.25 million in 2018 (in
2017, it decreased by 12.6% to
US$52.43 million).

Other Income (2014-2018)

Other Income (2014-2018)
Other income increased by 10% to
US$2.49 million in 2018 (in 2017,
it decreased by 17.8% to US$2.27
million).
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Five-Year Performance Review

Total assets (excluding
property and equipment)
(2014-2018)
The Centre’s statement of
financial position decreased by
3.1% to US$61.41 million (in
2017, it decreased by 4.5% to
US$63.34 million). The difference
between US$61.41 million and
the US$59.87 million on page
26 represents the IFRS 9 Day 1
Adjustment of US$1.54 million
(Refer to Notes 2(b) and 2(f))

Expenditures (2014-2018)
The Centre’s expenditures
increased by 5.2% to US$59.42
million in 2018 (in 2017, this figure
decreased by 12.3% to US$56.48
million).

Net assets (excluding
property and equipment)
(2014-2018)
There was a marginal decrease in
net assets from US$17.01 million
in 2017 to US$15.97 million in
2018.

5.92
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Corporate
Information
Board of Trustees
Name

Country

Month appointed to the
Board

End of term

M. Claire O’Connor (Chair)

Ireland

November 2013

April 2020

Lisa Sennerby Forsse (Vice
Chair)

Sweden

November 2015

April 2021

Alexander Müller

Germany

November 2016

April 2022

Bushra Naz Malik

Pakistan

November 2016

April 2022

Vijai Sharma

India

April 2017

November 2019

Héctor Cisneros

Peru

April 2012

April 2018

Augustin Brice SinSin

Benin

April 2015

April 2018

Kathleen Merrigan

United States

April 2018

November 2020

Milton Kanashiro

Brazil

November 2018

April 2021

Doris Capistrano

Philippines

November 2018

April 2021

Anthony Simons, Ex-officio

United Kingdom

November 2011

Continuous to the end of term as
Director General of ICRAF

José Campos, Ex-officio

Costa Rica

April 2017

Continuous to the end of term as Chair
of Center for International Forestry
Research (CIFOR) Board

Richard Lesiyampe, Ex-officio

Kenya

April 2016

Continuous as appointee of
Government of Kenya (host)

Headquarters

Lawyers

World Agroforestry

Oraro & Company Advocates

ICRAF House

ACK Garden House

United Nations Avenue

3rd Floor, Wing C, First Ngong Avenue

PO Box 30677

PO Box 51236

00100 – Nairobi

00200 - Nairobi

Kenya

Kenya

Auditor

Board Secretary
Ms. Christine Larson-Luhila

Deloitte
Deloitte Place
Waiyaki Way, Muthangari
PO Box 40092
GPO 00100
Nairobi
+254 719 039 000
Kenya
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Board of Trustees

Board of
Trustees

Ms. Marie Claire O’Connor

Prof. Lisa Sennerby Forsse

Prof. Augustin Brice Sinsin

Ms. M. Claire O’Connor received a BSc

Prof. Lisa Sennerby Forsse has a PhD in

Prof. Augustin Brice Sinsin obtained

in Biochemistry from the University

plant biology and is an adjunct professor

his PhD at the Free University of

College Dublin in 1977, and an MSc

in short-rotation forestry. From 2006 to

Brussels, Belgium. His fields of

in Organizational Behaviour from

2015, she was the vice-chancellor of

competency include agroforestry,

Dublin University in 1979. She worked

the Swedish University of Agricultural

conservation of endangered

in treasury (Esso), corporate banking

Sciences. Previously she served as

species, plant ecology and

(Bank of America), investment banking

research director at the Swedish Forestry

phytosociology. He has served as

(Westlb) and fund management

Research Institute (SkogForsk) and at

a member of the Governing Board

(Irish Life), and was the CEO of the

the Swedish Environmental Protection

of the West African Science Service

American Chamber of Commerce

Agency. Her academic experience

Centre on Climate and Adapted

in Ireland from 1998 to 2001. Ms.

covers a range of forest and agricultural

Land Use and is currently the

O’Connor held Board appointments at

related issues including plant physiology,

Director of Laboratory of Applied

the Irish Energy Centre, which became

agroforestry and silviculture, as well

Ecology at the Faculty of Agronomic

the Sustainable Energy Authority

as the environmental aspects of land

Sciences, University of Abomey-

of Ireland, and the Industrial Credit

use and the utilization of bioenergy

Calavi in Benin. In 2014, he was

Corporation Plc, a state-owned bank

from trees. She was a member of the

awarded the honour of World

with lending policies targeted at small

CGIAR Science Council from 2004 to

Leader Business Person during the

and medium-sized enterprises. From

2006. In 2001, she was awarded the

World Conference on Business and

2001 to 2005, she was Director of

“Golden Twig” by the Swedish Forestry

has authored and co-authored over

Ireland’s National Disability Authority,

Association in recognition of her

300 publications.

which developed standards and codes

achievements, and in 2010 she received

of practice for inclusion of people

the Royal Gold Medal from the King of

with disabilities. She also served on

Sweden, Carl XVI Gustaf, for outstanding

the Irish Department of Agriculture’s

achievements in agricultural sciences.

Independent Advisory Audit Committee

She was awarded Doctor of Honour at

for six years

the Faculty of Science, University of

Chair, Board of Trustees

Vice Chair

Copenhagen in 2013 and the University
of British Columbia, Canada in 2014.
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Member

Board of Trustees
Green Tribunal; and Chief Information
Commissioner of India. His experience
includes: environment and forest
legislation and policy; industrial and
vehicular pollution control; hazardous
substances management; biomedical
waste; trade and environment;
biodiversity; afforestation and forest
conservation; wildlife management;

Dr. Milton Kanashiro

Mr. Vijai Sharma

Dr. Milton Kanashiro holds a MSc

Mr. Vijai Sharma is Chair of the

in forestry and a PhD from North

Network for Certification and

Carolina State University in the

Conservation of Forests, a non-profit

United States. His areas of interest

organization in India dedicated to

include silviculture, genetics, forest

the environmental, economic and

management and species diversity. He

social aspects of sustainable forestry

has served on numerous international

management, with the objective of

committees, boards and projects,

developing certification standards.

and is currently based at the Brazilian

He was in the Indian Administrative

Agricultural Research Corporation

Service and has been: Secretary

(Embrapa Amazônia Oriental). Dr.

to India’s, Ministry of Environment,

Kanashiro has served as a member

Forests and Climate Change; Special

of the steering committee for the

Secretary in the Cabinet Secretariat

international project Identification of

of India; Member of the National

Member

Member

Timber Species and Origins (2012-

and tiger protection. Mr. Sharma was
India’s National Focal Point on Climate
Change and Ozone, and Special
Adviser to the Executive Director of
UNEP. His participation was critical in
establishing the: National Environment
Appellate Authority; National Ganga
River Basin Authority; and National
Green Tribunal. Mr. Sharma was
Secretary to the State Government of
Uttar Pradesh in the departments of
Housing, Environment and Energy; and
Chair of the State Pollution Control
Board. Mr. Sharma has law degrees
from University College London
and Harvard Law School, and has
co-authored two books on India’s
historical forts.

2014), president of the steering
committee for Embrapa’s Native
Forestry Resources Portfolio since May
2013, and president of the International

Dr. Héctor Cisneros holds a PhD in

Cooperation Committee for Embrapa

Forestry from the University of British

Amazônia Oriental from April 2015.

Columbia and an MSc in Forestry

He has also been a member of the

from University of Toronto. He has

steering committee for Amazonia’s

worked in both North America and

Research Partnership Platform (Cirad,

Peru, with significant expertise in

Embrapa and the Federal University

rural development, forestry and

of Pará). Dr. Kanashiro has authored

environmental issues. He is currently

and co-authored more than 80

Executive Coordinator of the National

publications.

Forest Conservation Programme to

Dr. Héctor Cisneros
Member

Mitigate Climate Change within Peru’s
Ministry of Environment and has
authored and co-authored more than
20 technical papers.
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Board of Trustees

Prof. Kathleen Merrigan
Member

Dr. Doris Capistrano
Member

Prof. Kathleen Merrigan is an expert

a 110,000-person, US$150 billion

in food and agriculture who was

federal department. She has also

celebrated by Time Magazine as one

been actively involved with FAO

of the 100 Most Influential People in

since 1998, serving in various roles

the World in 2010. She currently serves

including delegation head, chair and

as Kelly and Brian Swette Professor

lecturer. In addition to ICRAF, she is

in the School of Sustainability and

a board member of FoodCorps and

Executive Director of the Swette

the Stone Barns Centre for Food

Centre for Sustainable Food Systems

and Agriculture. She is a partner in

at Arizona State University. From 2013

Astanor Ventures and an advisor to

to 2018, she was Executive Director

S2G Ventures – two firms investing in

of Sustainability, Director of the GW

ag-tech innovations. She holds a PhD

Food Institute and a professor of

in Public Policy and Environmental

public policy at George Washington

Planning from Massachusetts Institute

University. From 2009 to 2013, Prof.

of Technology, a MA in Public Affairs

Merrigan was deputy secretary and

from the University of Texas at Austin

Chief Operating Officer of the United

and a BA from Williams College in the

States Department of Agriculture,

United States.

Dr. Doris Capistrano is Senior Advisor

and environment in Bangladesh.

of the Association of Southeast Asian

She has been involved in a number

Nations (ASEAN)-Swiss Partnership on

of international initiatives, serving

Social Forestry and Climate Change,

as Co-Chair of the UN Millennium

a Senior Fellow of the Southeast

Ecosystem Assessment Working

Asia Regional Centre for Graduate

Group on Sub-Global Assessments,

Study and Research in Agriculture

and a member of its technical

and a Fellow of the Washington

panel. She has also served on

DC-based Rights and Resources

several international advisory bodies

Initiative. She was previously Director

including the Science Committee of

of Forests and Governance at CIFOR

DIVERSITAS, the Steering Committee

and a visiting professor in forest and

of the FAO National Forest Programme

conservation policy at Wageningen

Facility, and the World Bank’s External

University in the Netherlands. Before

Advisory Group on Forest Strategy.

joining CIFOR, Dr. Capistrano

Dr. Capistrano has a PhD in Food

served as Ford Foundation’s Deputy

and Resource Economics from the

Representative for India, Nepal, and

University of Florida in the United

Sri Lanka, and was a programme

States.

officer for rural poverty, resources

12
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Board of Trustees

Mr. Alexander Müller

Ms. Bushra Naz Malik

Prof. Anthony Simons

Mr. Alexander Müller is the study lead

Ms. Bushra Naz Malik is a renowned

Prof. Anthony Simons is the Director

of the Economics of Ecosystems and

business and governance expert

General of ICRAF. He is a board

Biodiversity for Agriculture and Food,

who currently serves as Chair of the

member of Plant Resources of Tropical

a global project hosted by the United

Independent Oversight Advisory

Africa and the African Centre for

Nations Environment Programme

Committee on the Governing Board of

Technology Studies, and a member

(UNEP) in Geneva, Switzerland. He

the International Labour Organization

of the Panel of Experts on Forest

served as Assistant-Director General of

(ILO). She is also a Director of MHM

Genetic Resources. He is also an

the Food and Agriculture Organization

Consulting, a management consulting

Honorary Professor of Tropical Forestry

of the United Nations (FAO) from

firm. Between 2010 and 2013, she

at Forest and Landscape Denmark,

2006 to 2013. In June 2009, Mr.

was a Director and Chair of the Audit

within the Faculty of Life Science at

Müller was nominated as a member

Committee at the Lahore Stock

the University of Copenhagen. Prof.

of the Advisory Group on Energy and

Exchange in Pakistan. Ms. Malik

Simons has a PhD in Botany from

Climate Change by the United Nations

served as the Group Finance Director

Cambridge University in the United

Secretary-General to provide advice

and member of the Board of Directors

Kingdom.

on the energy-related dimensions of

of Kohinoor Maple Leaf Group, a

climate change negotiations. From

consortium of publicly listed firms

2008 to 2011, he served as chair of

headquartered in Pakistan from 2007 to

the United Nations System Standing

2010. She is also a Fellow Member of

Committee on Nutrition. A former city

the Institute of Chartered Accountants

councillor from Marburg, Germany,

of Pakistan with a Certified Public

he was also State Secretary for the

Accountant certification from Chartered

Ministry of Youth, Family Affairs

Professional Accountants in Ontario,

and Health in Hesse; Secretary of

Canada. Ms. Malik received her MBA

State for the Ministry for Consumer

at the Kellogg School of Management

Protection, Food and Agriculture in

at Northwestern University in the

the Federal Republic of Germany; and

United States and attended the

Member of Parliament of Hessen. He

Schulich Business School in Canada.

has over 20 years of experience in

She also has an LLB degree from the

promoting environmental and social

Punjab College and an Advanced

sustainability and has authored and

Management Program certification

co-authored a range of publications on

from Harvard Business School. Ms.

land degradation and sustainable land

Malik is committed to the cause

governance.

of women’s equality and provides

Member

Member

Ex-officio member

consultancy services to the Pakistanbased NGO All Mothers Educated
Now. In 2012, she served as a member
of the Commonwealth Business
Women, Pakistan Steering Group.
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Board of Trustees

Dr. José Campos

Dr. Richard Lesiyampe
Ex-officio member

Ms. Christine Larson-Luhila,
Senior Governance Advisor and
Secretary to the Board of Trustees

Dr. José Campos serves as Chair

Dr. Richard Lesiyampe is the Principal

Ms. Christine Larson-Luhila is Senior

of CIFOR’s Board of Directors and

Secretary, State Department of

Governance Advisor and Board

is a senior fellow at EcoAgriculture

Agriculture, Ministry of Agriculture,

Secretary at ICRAF. She joined the

Partners. From 2008 to 2016, he

Livestock and Fisheries in Kenya.

Centre in May 2014 as the Director of

was the Director General of CATIE,

Before joining the Ministry, he was the

Human Resources, assumed the role

an international organization that

Chief Executive Officer of Kenyatta

of Board Secretary in August 2015

combines graduate education,

National Hospital, where he provided

and transitioned into a dedicated

research and outreach in agriculture

transformational leadership in the

governance role in 2017. With 25

and natural resources within Latin

management of hospital resources

years’ experience in the not-for-profit

America and the Caribbean. At

and created an enabling environment

sector overseeing governance, finance,

CATIE, he also served in various roles

for employees to unleash their

human resources, corporate services,

including Deputy Director General and

potential in providing effective, efficient

programmes and audit, she has a

Director of the Natural Resources and

and sustainable quality service

passion for making organizations work.

Environment, Rural Development, and

delivery in line with Vision 2013. Dr.

She is a Certified Public Accountant

Forestry Departments. In addition, he

Lesiyampe holds an MBA degree

licensed by the California Board of

was the Latin American Chair on forest

from the University of Nairobi with a

Accountancy and a member of the

landscape management, head of the

focus in strategic human resource

American Institute of Certified Public

unit of natural forest management,

management. He also holds a Doctoral

Accountants.

project leader of silviculture of natural

Degree from Kenya Methodist

forests, and national coordinator of

University.

Ex-officio member

the multipurpose trees project. He has
worked with the Swiss Development
Cooperation Agency and international
NGOs on integrated conservation
and development projects. He holds
a PhD in forestry from the University
of Oxford, United Kingdom (1990),
an MSc in Natural Resources
Management from CATIE/University
of Costa Rica (1986), and a bachelor’s
degree in forest engineering from the
University of São Paulo, Brazil (1980).
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Senior Leadership Team

Senior
Leadership Team

Prof. Anthony Simons

Dr. Ravi Praphu

Mr. Ben Boxer

Prof. Anthony Simons holds a PhD in

Dr. Ravi Prabhu joined World

Mr. Ben Boxer joined World

Botany from Cambridge University in

Agroforestry in January 2012. He

Agroforestry in October 2016. He

the United Kingdom. He has worked

earned his professional degree

works closely with the Director

with World Agroforestry since 1995

and Doctorate in Forestry from the

General, the Senior Leadership Team

and was appointed Director General in

University of Goettingen, Germany,

and Board of Trustees, providing

2011. Prof. Simons is a Board member

and has engaged in multi-disciplinary

financial advice and overseeing macro-

of Plant Resources of Tropical Africa

research and action in forested

financial planning and analysis and

and the African Centre for Technology

landscapes for almost 20 years.

financial and budgetary controls. As an

Studies, and is a member of the

Previously a Senior Programme Officer

enabling function, Corporate Services

Panel of Experts of Forest Genetic

on Forests and Climate Change with

also covers operational management

Resources.

UNEP in Nairobi, Dr. Prabhu has

of ICRAF’s Nairobi campus and

participated in numerous international

other regional and country offices,

initiatives and committees,

staff safety and security, information

including the Millennium Ecosystem

technology, management information

Assessment, where he served on the

systems and contract management.

review and editorial team, and the

Mr. Boxer holds a degree in commerce

UN Millennium Projects Taskforce

from the University of Adelaide in

6 on Environmental Sustainability.

Australia and is a Certified Practising

He received the Queen’s Award for

Accountant (Australia) with 20 years

Forestry at Buckingham Palace in

of experience in commerce and the

2005.

not-for-profit sector. He has worked

Director General

Deputy Director General –
Research

Director of Corporate Services

in Australia, the United Kingdom,
Southeast Asia and East Africa.
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Senior Leadership Team

Senior
Leadership Team

Ms. Idah Ogoso

Ms. Elizabeth Kariuki

Ms. Idah Ogoso joined World

Ms. Elizabeth Kariuki joined ICRAF in

Agroforestry in 2009. She manages

2004 as a Programme Administrative

the human resources function at

Officer, rose to head the Contracts

headquarters and in all country offices

and Grants Office, and eventually

throughout Africa, Asia and Latin

assumed her current role as Executive

America. Her responsibilities include

Manager, in which she oversees policy

recruitment, policy implementation,

development, risk management and

supporting the research agenda,

special projects within the Director

compensation and benefits, talent

General’s office. Her 21 years’

management, learning and career

experience span contract and grant

development. With more than 18

management, intellectual property

years’ experience in human resources,

management, policy development,

Ms. Ogoso provides guidance to

risk management, management

Senior Management and other

of information systems and inter-

managers in human resources best

governmental trade relations. Ms.

practices and the Centre’s overall

Kariuki holds a master’s Degree in

strategy in support of its core values.

International Business Administration

She is a Certified Human Resources

(Strategic Management) and a

Manager with an MBA from Makerere

Bachelor of Science Degree in

University in Uganda. She is a member

International Business Administration

of the Human Resources Association

(Information Systems) from the United

of Uganda as well as the Society for

States International University.

Acting Human Resources Director
and Head of Human Resources

Human Resources Management.
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Corporate Governance Report

Corporate Governance
Report
World Agroforestry (ICRAF) adheres to the ideals of

excellence, transparency and social responsibility. These
are the primary pillars of its good governance in line with
the Centre’s vision and mission to reduce rural poverty,

increase food security, improve health and nutrition, and

ensure sustainable management of natural resources through
research and innovation.

As a global organization, ICRAF’s corporate governance
is tailored to ensure commitment to high professional
standards by the Board of Trustees and the Senior

Leadership Team – to whom the Centre’s management

has been entrusted for efficient, effective and successful
achievement of its core objectives.

The Board of Trustees and Senior Leadership Team are

Board organization and structure
ICFAF’s Charter provides for the Board of Trustees (“the

Board”) to be its primary governing body. The Board’s is

responsible for ensuring that the Centre has the required

resources to achieve its mission and vision with the greatest
levels of honesty, integrity and ethics. The current Board
comprises a diverse pool of skills within the areas of

agroforestry science, environmental management, business
management, economics and other areas.

The Board currently comprises 13 members, 10 of whom
are elected, and three ex-officio members, including a

representative from the Government of Kenya, the Chair

of the Board of CIFOR and World Agroforestry’s Director
General.

committed to ensuring that these high standards are an
integral part of the Centre’s daily operations.

Composition of the Board of Trustees

Audited Financial Statements
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Corporate Governance Report

The role of the Board

Activities of the Board

The Board’s primary mandate is to provide governance

The Board meets twice each year, in April and November.

standards in order to execute its mission. In order to do this

ensuring proper documentation of Board business and

oversight to ensure that the Centre functions to the highest
effectively, the Board has delegated the daily management

of the Centre to the Director General, who is assisted by the
Senior Leadership Team.

It is the sitting Board’s responsibility to identify and elect

new Board members, and orient them to ICRAF’s operations,
among other critical functions.

The Board Secretary is responsible for organizing meetings,
supporting the Board Chair and other members. The Board
also works closely with special Board committees, which
ensure efficient and effective implementation of Board
business.

Each Board committee has formal terms of reference that are
approved and periodically reviewed by the entire Board. All

committee members are Trustees, and the Centre’s Director

General is an ex-officio member of some committees. ICRAF
Directors serve as resource persons for the committees
closely related to their fields of responsibility.

The functions and composition of current Board committees
Board of Trustees

Summary terms of reference

Chair

•

Ms. M. Claire O Connor

Members

Prof. Lisa Sennerby Forsse
Mr. Alexander Müller
Ms. Bushra Naz Malik
Mr. Vijai Sharma
Prof. Kathleen Merrigan
Dr. Héctor Cisneros
Prof. Augustin Brice Sinsin
Dr. Milton Kanashiro
Dr. Doris Capistrano
Prof. Anthony Simons

Ensuring that the Centre’s research programme is subject to critical review and
evaluation, and assisting the CGIAR in participating in or complementing these
reviews;

•

Appointing the Director General, who serves as the Centre’s Chief Executive Officer;

•

Approving the Centre’s strategy, plans, and the annual programme of work and

•

Monitoring the Centre’s progress towards achieving its objectives;

•

Ensuring financial integrity and accountability;

•

Providing oversight of investments and disposal of major assets;

•

Approving personnel and all other policies;

•

Monitoring the legal implications of the Centre’s activities;

•

Appointing external auditors; and

•

Monitoring the performance of the Board as a whole and that of its individual

Dr. José Campos

budget;

members.

Dr. Richard Lesiyampe
Prof. Hamadi Mboga

Executive Committee

Summary terms of reference

Chair

•

Receive annual reports from the Director General regarding executive priorities.

Ms. M. Claire O’Connor

•

Reviewing the full Board agenda prior to Board meetings;

Members

•

Between Board meetings, receiving updated reports from the Board Committees

Mr. Alexander Müller

•

Periodically reviewing and recommending good governance practices to the Board;

Ms. Bushra Naz Malik

•

Acting on behalf of the Board when necessary and dealing with emergent issues as

•

Carrying out duties delegated to it by the Board in the intervals between Board

Prof. Lisa Sennerby Forsse

Mr. Vijai Sharma
Dr. Héctor Cisneros
Prof. Anthony Simons
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when necessary.

determined by the Chair or Director General; and
meetings.

Corporate Governance Report

Audit and Risk

Summary terms of reference

Chair

•

Management Committee
Ms. Bushra Naz Malik

The Audit and Risk Management Committee advises the Board on all matters relating
to accountability and oversight with respect to financial and risk management
practices.

Members

•

Prof. Lisa Sennerby Forsse
Dr. Doris Capistrano

Ensuring the integrity of financial statements, the Centre’s internal financial
and management control systems, the internal and external audit function,

the risk management policy and process, governance structure, management

Dr. José Campos

action plans, cases of fraud, values and ethics, and financial statements;

Prof. Augustin Brice Sinsin

•

Dr. Richard Lesiyampe

Making recommendations to the Board regarding the acceptance of the

external audit report and suggesting remedial actions to a follow up on the
audit findings; and

•
•

Commissioning investigations into any matters within its scope of
responsibility.

Has the authority to commission investigations into any matters within its scope of
responsibility. It is empowered to:
•

Seek any information it requires from ICRAF Management and staff – all of

whom are directed to cooperate with the Committee’s requests – or external
parties;.

•

Meet with management, staff, external auditors or outside counsel as

•

Retain independent counsel, accountants or other external advisors to advise

•

Recommend approval of the annual audited financial statements by the

necessary.

the ARMC or assist in conducting investigations: and
Board.

Programme Committee

Summary terms of reference

Chair

•

Prof. Lisa Sennerby Forsse

The Programme Committee advises the Board on all matters related to the Centre’s
strategy, research, programmes and partnerships. Its roles include:
•

Members

All members

Monitoring programme performance and impact, ensuring that the

Centre’s internal review function is systematically carried out and making
recommendations for approval by the Board, taking into account their
implications on the Centre’s budget; and

•

Overseeing the CGIAR Consortium Research Programmes in which ICRAF

is involved and providing advice to the Board on the links between ICRAF’s
programme and the CGIAR Consortium Research Programmes.

Finance and Resource
Mobilization Committee

Summary terms of reference

Chair

The Finance and Resource Mobilization Committee assists the Board in its oversight

Ms. Marie Claire O’Connor

responsibilities relating to fiscal management including:

Members

•

Reviewing and recommending approval of ICRAF’s annual operating budget.

•

Regularly reviewing financial results.

•

Overseeing the management of financial assets; and

•

Reviewing and evaluating internal controls, and making recommendations.

All members
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Corporate Governance Report

Nominations and
Governance Committee

Summary terms of reference

Chair

•

Mr. Vijai Sharma

with advice on the Board composition and recommendations on new members,

reappointments and succession planning with the goal of maintaining an appropriate

Members

membership mix. Its roles include:

Ms. M. Claire O’Connor
Mr. Alexander Müller
Prof. Kathleen Merrigan
Dr. Milton Kanashiro
Dr. Héctor Cisneros

•

Nominating the Chair, Vice Chair, Committee Chairs and Committee

•

Monitoring and evaluating overall Board performance; and

•

Monitoring and evaluating the performance of individual Board Members.

membership; and

Operations Committee

Summary terms of reference

Chair

The Operations Committee advises the Board on the efficiency and effectiveness of the

Members

protocol, travel and transport, information and communications technology, facilities

Mr. Alexander Müller
All members
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The Nominations and Governance Committee is responsible for providing the Board

Centre’s corporate service functions. These include matters related to human resources,
and building expansion, and safety and security in Kenya and ICRAF’s other countries of
operation.
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Board Chair’s Statement

Board Chair’s
Statement

2018 was a groundbreaking year for the Interntional Centre of Research in
Agroforestry (ICRAF), also known by the brand name World Agroforestry: we
opened the year by marking our 40th Anniversary and that of agroforestry. The very
concept of agroforestry – or agriculture with trees – has been inextricably linked
to ICRAF since its establishment in the 1970s; in fact, the word itself was coined
to describe our work. It was a time of enormous disconnect between people
and the world’s natural resources – a time of little recognition, understanding or
appreciation of the vital role trees play in rural habitats. While recognition of the
interdependence between people and the environment is now readily understood,
yesterday’s challenges have evolved into the hot-button issues facing the global

Ms. Marie Claire O’Connor
Chair, Board of Trustees

community in the 21st century.
In order to position ourselves better to address these challenges, we closed the
year with a landmark agreement to merge with CIFOR, our sister CGIAR centre
and the leading science institution devoted to forestry research. The merger
became effective 1 January 2019 with the appointment of a Common Board of
Trustees mandated to have the two centers ready for a full legal merger in two
to three years. In the intervening period, both organisations will be governed by
the Common Board in compliance with their respective charters, preserving their
autonomy and separate legal status as international organisations while creating
a common management team to realise the potential of the merger. They will also
remain active members of CGIAR.
Discussions on closer collaboration commenced in November 2017. During
2018, the Board Chairs, Vice Chairs and Directors General of ICRAF and CIFOR
establised a Joint Task Force to explore collaboration opportunities up to and
including a merger. During this exercise, we determined that there was little
programmatic overlap and a high degree of complementarity in our respective
programmes – which are most visible to the world through the CGIAR Research
Programme on Forest Trees and Agroforestry (CRP-FTA).
At a meeting in Bonn in November 2018, both Boards of Trustees voted for
the merger. The benefits of this merger will be seen through the synergies we
create by leveraging both organisations’ policy research, knowledge products
and knowledge services – using the Global Landscapes Forum as a repository,
disseminator and convenor of key players in landscape management, land use
policy, forestry and agroforestry. Together, CIFOR and ICRAF will provide the
research, policy development and tailored solutions to help forward-thinking
countries, communities and companies improve land management, livelihoods,
sustainability and resilience.
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Stakeholders who were briefed on these developments warmly welcomed the planned merger. There is wide acknowledgement
of the need for land use, land management, forestry and agroforestry services, and a growing urgency to assist governments,
cities, multinational corporations and communities in developing and implementing solutions that are coherent and sensitive
to water, carbon, phosphate and nitrogen cycles. With mounting anxiety about climate change and increased politicisation of
the topic, natural resource accounting will drive the need for advisory and other services. Few organisations are as well placed
for creating impact as CIFOR and ICRAF, acting together though CRP-FTA, the world’s largest forest, tree and agroforestry
programme.
Together the two organisations had grant income of US$92.5 million at the end of 2018 (US$37.2 million at CIFOR and
US$55.3 million at ICRAF). Their combined General and Administrative cost base was US$19.94 million (US$9.9 million for
CIFOR and US$10.04 million for ICRAF).
Highlights of our work
ICRAF’s work generating knowledge and offering knowledge services at multiple scales supports a virtuous cycle of change:
field-level innovation drives impacts at the landscape, regional and global scales, while innovation is further enabled by policy,
social, and technological developments. In addition to being a landmark year in ICRAF’s history, 2018 was one of notable
achivements. A few highlights are included below.
As early as 2014, our scientists proposed a new direction in agroforestry research by arguing that nesting research in
development would greatly increase the impact of both research and development. This new research paradigm is now fully
operational, and by 2018 a suite of projects implemented by ICRAF and its partners had reached hundreds of thousands of
farmers througout the global South. These include the European Union-funded Regreening Africa initiative (initially targeted
at 500,000 farmers in Burkino Faso, Ethiopia, Ghana, Kenya, Mali, Niger, Rwanda, Senegal, Somalia and Uganda), and the
ACIAR-supported Kanoppi project targeting more than 3,000 farmers in Indonesia. More information on these and other
projects can be found at (link to annual report to be provided).
Our scientists are a key resource for informing the development of policies that magnify the positive impacts of agroforestry
on livelihoods and landscapes. In 2014, ICRAF was a driving force behind India becoming the first country to adapt a national
agroforestry policy. In 2018 we built on this success: upon its request, we are helping the Government of Nepal to develop its
own agroforestry policy, which aims to promote climate and pest-resilient farming systems and livestock production, among
other efforts. ICRAF’s team in Vietnam led the development of the ASEAN Guidelines for Agroforestry Development. Beyond
Asia, we are responding to a request by the Government of Rwanda to assist in developing a national agroforestry strategy.
And in Peru, research by our BMZ-financed Support to the Development of Agroforestry Consessions (SUCCESS) Project
has enabled evidence-based implementation of an innovative legal provision that seeks to reduce deforestation and promote
restoration over previously cleared land. More information on our policy-focused work can be found at (link to annual report to
be provided).
With growing international recognition of the deepening climate crisis, worldwide biodiversity loss and the impacts of these
crises on human lives, our work has never been more important. Work by ICRAF scientists in East and Central Asia has shed
light on the global potential of agroforestry for sequestering below-ground carbon. In Latin America, we are focusing on the
potential contribution of greenhouse gas sequestration to silvopatoral systems – a long-recognized but much-neglected issue.
These are just a few of the groundbreaking and far-reaching initiatives undertaken by our scientists and enabling staff,
including those on our Science Quality Platform and our Impact Acceleration, Learning and Capacity Development experts.
We invite you to take a more in-depth look at all our work at (link to annual report to be provided). One thing is clear: the world
needs agroforestry and ICRAF is delivering.
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Financial performace
ICRAF reported a deficit of US$1.7 million for 2018. Total expenditures were US$59.4 million, up from US$56.5 million in
2017. Grant income totalled US$55.3 million for 2018 versus US$52.7 million for 2017. This 5% incease reversed a previous
contraction of 13% from 2016 to 2017. There was a 14% increase in Window 1 and 2 income from US$5.7 million to US$6.5
million, along with a 6% decrease in Window 3 income from US$22.3 million to US$20.9 million. Bilateral grant income
increased by 13% from US$24.7 million to US$27.9 million.
Factors contributing to the deficit included significantly reduced funding compared with that forecast for Window 3 and
bilateral grants, reduced investment income and foreign exchange losses.
Increased general and administrative expenses totalled US$10.0 million in 2018 versus US$7.7 million in 2017 –
notwithstanding the cost-saving measures applied in 2018. Write backs of provisions totalling US$2.1 million boosted income
while charge offs of US$1.9 million increased provisions.
ICRAF’s short-term solvency, a measure of the number of days’ working capital available to fund expenditures (excluding
depreciation), stood at 148 days (compared to 165 days in 2017) against the CGIAR benchmark of 90-120 days.
Adequecy of reserves, the long-term financial stability indicator measuring the number of days of unrestricted net assets, stood
at 108 days (compared to 120 days in 2017) – against the recommended minimum benchmark of 70-90 days.
The indirect cost ratio for the centre was 20.9% for 2018 versus 16.2% for 2017. There was a change in the computation
methodology in 2018, requiring the restatement of the 2017 ratio from 16.2% to 19.2%. This contrasts with the average across
CGIAR centres for 2017 of 15%. Over the last three years, there have been significant efforts to: clear all old receivables and
grant balances; support current balances with appropriate documentation; and implement improved fianncial controls and
processes.
On behalf of the Board of Trustees and Senior Leadership of ICRAF, I take this opportunity to thank the staff for their
accomplishments in 2018 and look forward to a highly productive 2019.

Ms. Marie Claire O’Connor
Chair, Board of Trustees
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Board Statement on Risk Management

Board Statement on
Risk Management
World Agroforstry’s (ICRAF) Board of Trustees and

achieves this through the Risk Management Committee

Management regularly review, as part of their startegy

(RMC) which is responsible for centre-wide implementation

setting, the context within which the ICRAF operates, and

of a risk management framework, creating an environment

maintain a broad understanding of risks and opportunities

whereby risks are appropriately identified, assessed and

in the internal and external environments. In order to do

acted upon in accordance with ICRAF’s policies.

this comprehensively, a range of risk areas which include
governance, research, finance, people, operations,
information and communication technology, resource
mobilization, communications and partnerships, are
considered.

integration into business processes of identification, analysis
and monitoring of key risks and opportunities at the process/
unit and Centre level. Staff are responsible for ensuring that
risks are considered for all business processes under their

The ICRAF risk management framework draws on global

responsibility and for identifying appropriate risk-mitigation

best practices, specifically the following:

strategies after due consideration of costs and benefits.

1. The 2009 standard of the International Organization

The Internal Audit Unit reviews the design and effectiveness

for Standardization titled ‘ISO 31000 - Risk Management:

of the risk management framework and internal controls on

Principles and Guidelines’

an ongoing basis and reports the results of its reviews to the

2. The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO) 6 September 2017

Director General and Board of Trustees, through the Audit
and Risk Management Committee.

revisedrisk management framework titled ‘ERM Framework:

During 2018 an online Risk Management Portal was

Enterprise Risk Management – Integrating with Strategy and

implemented to strengthen the risk management across

Performance;

the Centre. The portal, which is accessible by all staff,

3. The CGIAR Risk Management Framework.
The Board of Trustees have the overall responsibility for
ensuring an appropriate risk management framework and
internal control systems are in place to manage the Centre’s
risk appetite within the acceptable levels set by both the
Board of Trustees and Management. The Audit and Risk
Management Committee of the Board of Trustees has the
primary responsibility for risk management and internal
control oversight.
The day-to-day responsibility for implementation of the risk
management framework and the internal control systems
rests with Management. This includes the process of
identifying, evaluating, monitoring and reporting of risks and
the effectiveness of internal control systems. Management

Ms. Marie Claire O’Connor
Chair, Board of Trustees
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enhances risk management awareness, and serves as an
interactive tool through which staff can report occurences,
update action items assigned to them, propose new control
measures and risks. Global staff training on the basics
of Risk Management, as well as the use of the portal,
commenced in 2018.
In the year 2018, the Centre also rolled out an anonymous
reporting platform, which is publicly accessible from the
website. This has enhanced the Centre’s whistleblowing
mechanism.
The Board of Trustees of World Agroforestry (ICRAF) has
reviewed the risk management framework and internal
control systems in operation during the year and is satisfied
that they are operating adequately and efficiently.

Statement of Management Responsibilities

Statement of
Management Responsibilities
It is the responsibility of ICRAF Management to prepare financial statements for each financial year that give a true and
fair view of the Centre’s financial position at the end of the financial year, and its profits or losses for that year. It is also
Management’s responsibility to ensure that the Centre maintains proper accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain all transactions undertaken during the year and disclose the Centre’s financial position with reasonable accuracy. In
addition, Management is responsible for safeguarding the Centre’s assets and for taking reasonable steps to prevent and
detect fraud and error.
ICRAF Management accepts responsibility for preparing and presenting these financial statements in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Management also accepts responsibility for:
(i) designing, implementing and maintaining all internal controls it deems necessary to enable the presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;
(ii) selecting suitable accounting policies and applying them consistently; and
(iii) making accounting estimates and judgements that are reasonable in the circumstances.
Having made an assessment of ICRAF’s ability to continue as a going concern, ICRAF Management is not aware of any
material uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast doubt upon the Centre’s ability to continue as a going
concern.
ICRAF Management acknowledges that the independent audit of the financial statements does not relieve Management of its
responsibilities.
Approved by ICRAF Management on July 31, 2019 and signed on its behalf by:

Anthony Simons		

Ben Boxer

Director General

Director of Corporate Services

July 31 2019

July 31 2019
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Board of Trustees of World Agroforestry Centre

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Board
of Trustees of World Agroforestry (ICRAF)
Opinion
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of World Agroforestry (ICRAF), set out on pages 24 to 66 which
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, and the statement of financial activity and other
comprehensive income, statement of changes in net assets and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Centre as at 31
December 2018, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under these
standards are described further in the section of our report on Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements. We are independent of ICRAF in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants and the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements
in Kenya. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Other information
The Board of Trustees is responsible for the other information, which comprises the information included in the Annual Report
but does not include the financial statements and the auditor’s report on these statements.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
or conclusion on this other information. In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of Management and those charged with governance for the financial statements
The Board of Trustees is responsible for preparing financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
the IFRS, and for such internal controls as Board of Trustees determines necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Trustees is responsible for assessing the Centre’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, all matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting,
unless the Board of Trustees either intends to liquidate the Centre or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to
do so. Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Centre’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Board of Trustees of World Agroforestry Centre
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the ISAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error, and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also undertake the following:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error; design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks; and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than that resulting from
error since fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal controls.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Centre’s internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Board of Trustees.
• Form a conclusion on the appropriateness of the Board of Trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, determine whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Centre’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Centre to cease to continue as a going concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including disclosures, and assess
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in an accurate manner.
• Obtain sufficiently appropriate audit evidence regarding the Centre’s financial information and business activities to express
an opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Centre’s audit.
We remain responsible for our audit opinion.
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Certified Public Accountants (Kenya)
Nairobi 				2019

CPA Patricia Seroney - Practising certificate No. 2434
Signing partner responsible for the independent audit
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Financial Statements
Statement of
Financial Position
Note

31-Dec-18

31-Dec-17

USD’000

USD’000

Non-current Assets
Property, plant and equipment

5

4,855

5,675

Intangible assets

6

571

663

5,426

6,338

Total non-current assets

Current assets
Held for trading financial assets

7(a)

15,830

15,651

Term deposits

7(b)

205

205

Inventories

8

134

289

Receivables and other current assets

9

15,523

23,483

10

22,761

17,377

Total current assets

54,453

57,005

Total assets

59,879

63,343

20,985

24,198

20,985

24,198

Accounts payable – retirement benefit
obligation

3,908

6,035

Total non-current liabilities

3,908

6,035

Cash and cash equivalents

Net Assets

11

Total net assets
Non-current liabilities

Current liabilities
Accounts payable – retirement benefit
obligation

12

2,040

347

Accounts payable

13

32,946

32,763

Total current liabilities

34,986

33,110

Total liabilities

38,894

39,145

Total net assets and liabilities

59,879

63,343

Anthony Simons						Ben Boxer
Director General						
Director of Corporate Services
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Statement of Financial Activity
and other Comprehensive Income

Notes

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

US$’000

US$’000

55,290

52,731

2,492

2,266

57,782

54,997

Grant revenue

14, 21

Other income

15, 21 		

Total operating income
Research and collaborator expenses

17, 21  

(49,379)

(48,789)

General and administration expenses

17, 21  

(10,036)

(7,692)

Total expenses

(59,415)

(56,481)

Operating loss

(1,633)

(1,484)

Financial income

16, 21  

191

368

Financial expense

16, 21  

(514)

(178)

(1,956)

(1,294)

279

8

(1,677)

(1,286)

Deficit for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to surplus
of deficit
Re-measurement of defined benefit obligation – re-measurement gain
Total comprehensive deficit for the year

12
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Statement of
changes in net assets

Notes

Net assets
US$’000

Balance at 1 January 2017

11

Deficit for the year

(1,294)

Other comprehensive income for the year
Balance at 31 December 2017
IFRS 9 day one adjustment on impairment

8
11

24,198

2 (b), 2(f)

(1,536)

As at 1 January 2018 as restated

22,662

Deficit in the year

(1,956)

Other comprehensive income for the year
Balance at 31 December 2018

30

25,484
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279
20,985

Financial Statements

Statement of
Cash Flows

Note

2018

2017

US$’000

US$’000

(1,677)

(1,286)

Cash flows from operating activities
Deficit for the year
Adjustments for:
- Depreciation

5

1,276

1,196

- Amortization

6

92

92

- Write offs from work in progress

5

298

-

7(a)

117

-

(260)

-

- Unrealized fair value losses on investments
- Interest from fair value losses on investments
- Movement in retirement benefit obligation

12

(434)

689

- Gain on disposal of property and equipment

15

(54)

(99)

155

(248)

7,960

4,888

183

(2,416)

- Day 1 adjustment – impact of IFRS 9

(1,536)

-

Cash generated from operating activities

6,120

2,816

260

-

________

_______

6,380

2,816

(756)

(369)

56

99

2,826

3,843

(3,122)

(3,694)

(996)

(121)

5,384

2,695

17,377

14,682

22,761

17,377

Changes in working capital:
- Inventories
- Receivables and other current assets
- Accounts payable

Interest received

Net cash generated from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment

5

Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment
Proceeds from redemption of financial assets
Purchase of financial assets
Net cash used in investment activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

10
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Notes to the
Financial Statement

1. General information
World Agroforestry (ICRAF) is an autonomous, not-for-profit
research and development institution supported by over 50

in the current year and had no material impact on the
amounts reported in these financial statements.

governments, private foundations, regional development

Impact of initial application of IFRS 9 Financial

banks and the World Bank. The Centre is part of the alliance

Instruments

of the Consultative Group on International Agricultural
Research (CGIAR) centres.

In the current year, the Centre has applied IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments (as revised in July 2014) and the related

ICRAF was founded in 1978 as the International Centre

consequential amendments to other IFRS Standards that

for Research in Agroforestry to promote the exchange of

are effective for an annual period that begins on or after 1

information about agroforestry research in the tropics. With

January 2018. The transition provisions of IFRS 9 allow an

its headquarters in Nairobi, Kenya, the Centre operates in

entity not to restate comparatives. The Centre has elected

20 countries in Africa, 11 in Asia, three in South America,

not to restate comparatives in respect of the financial

one in Europe and the United States. In 1992, the Centre

instruments.

joined the CGIAR and since then has transformed itself into
a world-class international agricultural research institution.
In 2002, the organization acquired the brand name World
Agroforestry. However, the International Centre for Research

Additionally, the Centre adopted consequential amendments
to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures that were
applied to the disclosures for 2018.

in Agroforestry (ICRAF) remains its legal name.

IFRS 9 introduced new requirements for the following:

The address of its registered office is:

1) The classification and measurement of financial assets and

United Nations Avenue
P.O Box 30677
00100 Nairobi
2. Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation
of these financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless
otherwise stated.
Statement of compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
Adoption of new and revised International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS)
(i) New standards and amendments to published standards
effective for the year ended 31 December 2018
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The following new and revised IFRS standards were effective
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financial liabilities
2) Impairment of financial assets, and
3) General hedge accounting
Details of these requirements as well as the impact on the
financial statements is described below.
Adoption of new and revised International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS)
(i) New and amended IFRS standards and amendments
to published standards effective for the year ended 31
December 2018 (Continued)
Impact of initial application of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
a) Classification and measurement of financial assets
The Centre has applied the requirements of IFRS 9 to
instruments that continue to be recognised as at 1 January
2018 and has not applied the requirements to instruments

Notes to the Financial Statements

that have already been derecognised as at 1 January 2018.
Comparative amounts in relation to instruments that continue
to be recognised as at 1 January 2018 have not been
restated where appropriate in accordance with the transition
provisions of the standard.

b) Impairment of financial assets
In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9
requires an expected credit loss model as opposed to an
incurred credit loss model under IAS 39. Specifically, IFRS
9 requires the Centre to recognise a loss allowance for

The Centre’s balance sheet only contains the following
financial assets:

expected credit losses on its financial assets.
The Centre measured the loss allowance for trade receivables

1) Trade and other receivables,

and Cash and bank balances at an amount equal to lifetime
expected credit loss (ECL).

2) Due from related parties, and

Because the Centre has elected not to restate comparatives,

3) Bank & cash balances

for the purpose of assessing whether there has been a

There has been no change in the measurement criteria for
any of the Centre’s financial assets on adoption of IFRS 9
after the consideration of the business model and cash flow
characteristics.

significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition of
financial instruments that remain recognised on the date
of initial application of IFRS 9 (i.e. 1 January 2018), the
management has compared the credit risk of the respective
financial instruments on the date of their initial recognition to
their credit risk as at 1 January 2018.
The result of the assessment is as follows:

Items existing as at 1 January
2018 that are subject to
impairment provision of IFRS 9

Credit risk attributes at 1 January 2018

Cumulative additional
allowance recognized
on 1 January 2018
US$’000’

Donor receivables

For donor receivables, the Centre applies the simplified
approach to providing for expected credit losses prescribed
by IFRS 9, which requires the use of the lifetime expected loss
provision

(653)

Partner receivables

The Centre works with several partners in implementing its’
programs. These partnerships are guided by agreements
entered between the partners and the Centre which
stipulates the process of advancing funds to the partners and
accounting of the funds by the partners. The partners are
expected to refund any funds not utilised and accounted for
to the Centre.

1,607

Staff Receivables

Staff Receivables relate to advances to staff for travel and
program activities which the respective staff account for
once the travel and the program activities are completed.
The probability of future losses arising from such receivables
is very low and the Centre has not historically realised any
significant losses on such receivables.

582

Bank balances

All bank balances are assessed to have low credit risk at each
reporting date as they are held with reputable international
banking institutions.

-

Total

1,536

The additional credit loss allowance of US$1.536 million as

accounting for changes in the fair value of a financial liability

at 1 January 2018 has been recognised against net assets

designated as at FVTPL attributable to changes in the credit

resulting in a decrease in net assets of US$ 1.536 million.

risk of the issuer.

c) Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

Specifically, IFRS 9 requires that the changes in the fair

A significant change introduced by IFRS 9 in the classification
and measurement of financial liabilities relates to the

value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes
in the credit risk of that liability be presented in other
comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects
Audited Financial Statements
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of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive
income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in
profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a financial
liability’s credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit
or loss, but are instead transferred to retained earnings when

Total (US$.
‘000)

Impairment loss allowance as per IAS 39

(2,444)

At 1 January 2018

the financial liability is derecognised. Previously, under IAS

Impairment loss allowance as per IFRS 9

(3,980)

39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value of the

Day one adjustment

(1,536)

financial liability designated as at FVTPL was presented in
profit or loss.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The application of IFRS 9 has not affected the Centre’s

In May 2014, IFRS 15 was established as a single

accounting for its liabilities. The trade payables continue to be
recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured

comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting
for revenue arising from contracts with customers. IFRS

at amortised cost.

15 supersedes the current revenue recognition guidance,

d) General hedge accounting

and the related Interpretations.

The new general hedge accounting requirements retain
the three types of hedge accounting. However, greater
flexibility has been introduced to the types of transactions
eligible for hedge accounting, specifically broadening the
types of instruments that qualify for hedging instruments
and the types of risk components of non-financial items
that are eligible for hedge accounting. In addition, the
effectiveness test has been replaced with the principle of an
‘economic relationship’. Retrospective assessment of hedge
effectiveness is also no longer required. Enhanced disclosure
requirements about the Centre’s risk management activities
have also been introduced.
The application of the IFRS 9 hedge accounting requirements
has had no other impact on the results and financial position
of the Centre for the current and/or prior years as the
Centre has no hedging relationships and therefore no hedge
accounting is required as per IFRS 9.
e) Disclosures in relation to the initial application of
IFRS 9
There were no financial assets or financial liabilities which
the Centre had previously designated as at FVTPL under IAS
39 that were subject to reclassification or which the Centre
has elected to reclassify upon the application of IFRS 9.
There were no financial assets or financial liabilities which the
Centre has elected to designate as at FVTPL at the date of
initial application of IFRS 9.
f) Day one adjustment
The application of IFRS 9 has had an impact on the cash
flows of the Centre. The additional allowance of US$ 1.536
million has been classified as a non cash item as indicated
below:
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At 31 December 2017
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including IAS 18: Revenue, IAS 11: Construction Contracts

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services.
Specifically, the standard introduces a five-step approach to
revenue recognition:
Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
Step 3: Determine the transaction price
Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract
Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation
Under IFRS 15, an entity recognizes revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more
prescriptive guidance has been added in IFRS 15 to deal
with specific scenarios. In addition, extensive disclosures are
required by IFRS 15.
The application of this standard does not have a significant
impact on the Centre’s financial statements because most
of the Centre’s income is donor funded and income is only
recognized when the conditions for funding have been met.
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IFRS 2 (amendments) Classification and Measurement of

The amendments to IAS 28 Investments in Associates and

Share‑based Payment Transactions

Joint Ventures clarify that the option for a venture capital

The amendments clarify the following:
1. In estimating the fair value of a cash‑settled share‑based
payment, the accounting for the effects of vesting and
non‑vesting conditions should follow the same approach as
for equity‑settled share‑based payments.
2. Where tax law or regulation requires an entity to withhold a
specified number of equity instruments equal to the monetary
value of the employee’s tax obligation to meet the employee’s
tax liability which is then remitted to the tax authority (typically
in cash), i.e. the share‑based payment arrangement has a ‘net
settlement feature’, such an arrangement should be classified
as equity‑settled in its entirety, provided that the share‑based

organisation and other similar entities to measure investments
in associates and joint ventures at FVTPL is available
separately for each associate or joint venture, and that
election should be made at initial recognition.
In respect of the option for an entity that is not an investment
entity (IE) to retain the fair value measurement applied by its
associates and joint ventures that are IEs when applying the
equity method, the amendments make a similar clarification
that this choice is available for each IE associate or IE joint
venture.
The amendments to the standard had no impact on the
Centre’s financial statements.

payment would have been classified as equity‑settled had it

IFRC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance

not included the net settlement feature.

Consideration Issued

3. A modification of a share‑based payment that changes

This interpretation relates to IAS 21: Foreign currency

the transaction from cash‑settled to equity‑settled should be

transactions and advance consideration. It clarifies the

accounted for as follows:

accounting for transactions that includes the receipt or

(a) the original liability is derecognised;
(b) the equity‑settled share‑based payment is recognised
at the modification date fair value of the equity instrument
granted to the extent that services have been rendered up to

payment of advance consideration in a foreign currency. The
Interpretation covers foreign currency transactions when an
entity recognizes a non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability arising from the payment or receipt of advance
consideration before the entity recognizes the related asset,

the modification date; and

expense or income.

(c) Any difference between the carrying amount of the liability

This interpretation did not have any impact on the Centre’s

at the modification date and the amount recognised in equity
should be recognised in profit or loss immediately.
The amendments to the standard had no impact on the
Centre’s financial statements.
AS 40 Investment Property
The amendment requires an entity to transfer a property to,
or from, investment property when, and only when, there
is evidence of a change in use. A change of use occurs
if property meets – or ceases to meet – the definition of
investment property. A change in Management’s intentions
for the use of a property in itself does not constitute evidence

financial statements during the financial year.
(ii) New and amended standards and interpretations in
issue but not yet effective in the year ended 31 December
2018
New and Amendments to

Effective for annual

standards

periods beginning on
or after

IFRS 16 Leases

1 January 2019

Amendments to IFRS 9

1 January 2019

Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

of a change in use.

Amendments to IAS 19

This amendment did not have any impact on the Centre

Amendment , Curtailments or

financial statements during the financial year.

1 January 2019

Employee Benefits Plan
Settlement

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2014-2016 Cycle
The annual improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 cycle include
a number of amendments to various IFRSs, which are
summarised below:
Audited Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2018

35

Notes to the Financial Statements

Amendments to IAS 28 Long

1 January 2019

term interests in Associates and
1 January 2019

2017 Cycle
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over

In contrast to lessee accounting, IFRS 16 substantially carries
forward the lessor accounting requirements in IAS 17, and

1 January 2019

Income Tax Treatments
New and Amendments to

Effective for annual

standards

periods beginning on
or after

IFRS 10 Consolidated

Effective for annual

Financial Statements and

periods beginning on

IAS 28 (Amendments) Sale or

or after a date to be

Contribution of Assets between

determined

an investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture
(iii) Impact of new and amended standards and
interpretations on the financial statements for the year

continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an
operating lease or a finance lease.
Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS
16. The Centre has not quantified the impact on its financial
statements until a detailed assessment is carried out.
Amendments to IFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation
The amendments to IFRS 9 clarify that for assessing
whether a prepayment feature meets the SPPI condition, the
party exercising the option may pay or receive reasonable
compensation for the prepayment irrespective of the reason
for prepayment. In other words, prepayment features with

ended 31 December 2018 and future annual periods

negative compensation do not automatically fail SPPI.

IFRS 16 Leases

The amendment applies to annual periods beginning on or

IFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the

are specific transition provisions depending on when the

identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. IFRS 16 will
supersede the current lease guidance including IAS 17
Leases and the related interpretations when it becomes
effective.
IFRS 16 distinguishes leases and service contracts on
the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a
customer. Distinctions of operating leases (off balance sheet)
and finance leases (on balance sheet) are removed for lessee
accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-of-use
asset and a corresponding liability have to be recognised
for all leases by lessees (i.e. all on balance sheet) except for
short-term leases and leases of low value assets.
The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain
exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease
liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the present
value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date.
Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest and
lease payments, as well as the impact of lease modifications,
amongst others. Furthermore, the classification of cash flows
will also be affected as operating lease payments under IAS
17 are presented as operating cash flows; whereas under
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principal and an interest portion which will be presented as
financing and operating cash flows respectively.

Joint Ventures
Annual Improvements 2015-

the IFRS 16 model, the lease payments will be split into a
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after 1 January 2019, with earlier application permitted. There
amendments are first applied, relative to the initial application
of IFRS 9.
The Centre does not anticipate that the application of the
amendments in the future will have an impact on its financial
statements.
Amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits Plan
Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement
The amendments clarify that the past service cost (or of the
gain or loss on settlement) is calculated by measuring the
defined benefit liability (asset) using updated assumptions
and comparing benefits offered and plan assets before and
after the plan amendment (or curtailment or settlement) but
ignoring the effect of the asset ceiling (that may arise when
the defined benefit plan is in a surplus position). IAS 19 is
now clear that the change in the effect of the asset ceiling
that may result from the plan amendment (or curtailment or
settlement) is determined in a second step and is recognised
in the normal manner in other comprehensive income.
The paragraphs that relate to measuring the current
service cost and the net interest on the net defined benefit
liability (asset) have also been amended. An entity will
now be required to use the updated assumptions from
this remeasurement to determine current service cost and

Notes to the Financial Statements
net interest for the remainder of the reporting period after

in a transaction with an associate or a joint venture that is

the change to the plan. In the case of the net interest, the

accounted for using the equity method, are recognised in

amendments make it clear that for the period post plan

the parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated

amendment, the net interest is calculated by multiplying the

investors’ interests in that associate or joint venture.

net defined benefit liability (asset) as remeasured under IAS
19.99 with the discount rate used in the remeasurement (also
taking into account the effect of contributions and benefit
payments on the net defined benefit liability (asset)).

Similarly, gains and losses resulting from the remeasurement
of investments retained in any former subsidiary (that has
become an associate or a joint venture that is accounted
for using the equity method) to fair value are recognised in

The amendments are applied prospectively. They apply only

the former parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of the

to plan amendments, curtailments or settlements that occur

unrelated investors’ interests in the new associate or joint

on or after the beginning of the annual period in which the

venture.

amendments to IAS 19 are first applied. The amendments
to IAS 19 must be applied to annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2019, but they can be applied earlier if an
entity elects to do so.
The Centre does not anticipate that the application of the
amendments in the future will have an impact on its financial
statements.
Amendments to IAS 28 Long‑term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures
The amendment clarifies that IFRS 9, including its impairment
requirements, applies to long‑term interests.

The effective date of the amendments has yet to be set by
the IASB; however, earlier application of the amendments is
permitted. The Centre does not anticipate that the application
of the amendments in the future will have an impact on the
Centre’s financial statements.
Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle
The Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015-2018
cycle makes amendments to the following standards:
• IFRS 3 and IFRS 11 - The amendments to IFRS 3 clarify
that when an entity obtains control of a business that is a
joint operation, it remeasures previously held interests in

Furthermore, in applying IFRS 9 to long‑term interests,

that business. The amendments to IFRS 11 clarify that when

an entity does not take into account adjustments to their

an entity obtains joint control of a business that is a joint

carrying amount required by IAS 28 (i.e., adjustments to

operation, the entity does not remeasure previously held

the carrying amount of long‑term interests arising from

interests in that business.

the allocation of losses of the investee or assessment of
impairment in accordance with IAS 28).

• IAS 12 - The amendments clarify that all income tax
consequences of dividends (i.e. distribution of profits) should

The amendments apply retrospectively to annual reporting

be recognised in profit or loss, regardless of how the tax

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Earlier

arises.

application is permitted. Specific transition provisions apply
depending on whether the first‑time application of the
amendments coincides with that of IFRS 9.

• IAS 23 - The amendments clarify that if any specific
borrowing remains outstanding after the related asset is ready
for its intended use or sale, that borrowing becomes part of

The Centre does not anticipate that the application of the

the funds that an entity borrows generally when calculating

amendments in the future will have an impact on its financial

the capitalisation rate on general borrowings.

statements.

The Centre does not anticipate that the application of the

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution

amendments in the future will have an impact on its financial

of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint

statements.

Venture
The amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 deal with situations
where there is a sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture. Specifically, the
amendments state that gains or losses resulting from the loss
of control of a subsidiary that does not contain a business

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
IFRIC 23 sets out how to determine the accounting
tax position when there is uncertainty over income tax
treatments. The Interpretation requires an entity to:
• determine whether uncertain tax positions are assessed
separately or as a group; and
Audited Financial Statements
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• assess whether it is probable that a tax authority will accept

the grant is received or – if outstanding on December 31 – at

an uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to be used, by

the market exchange rate in effect at the year end.

an entity in its income tax filings:
– If yes, the entity should determine its accounting tax
position consistently with the tax treatment used or planned
to be used in its income tax filings.

Income and expenses in currencies other than United States
dollars, as well as those related to properties, spare parts
and equipment, are initially recorded at the official exchange

– If no, the entity should reflect the effect of uncertainty in

rate on the date of each transaction. Net gains and losses

determining its accounting tax position.

arising from exchange rate fluctuations are excluded from

The Interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2019. Entities can apply the Interpretation
with either full retrospective application or modified
retrospective application without restatement of comparatives
retrospectively or prospectively.
The Centre does not anticipate that the application of the
amendments in the future will have an impact on its financial
statements.
(iv) Early adoption of standards
The Centre did not early-adopt any new or amended
standards in 2018.
(a) Basis of preparation
The measurement basis applied is the historical cost basis,
except for except for certain financial instruments that are

the Centre’s operational expenses but reported as financial
expenses in the statement of financial activity.
(c) Revenue recognition
The Centre recognizes revenue as follows:
Grants are recognized as revenue only when the conditions
have been substantially met or the donor has explicitly
waived the conditions.				
Unrestricted grant revenue
Unrestricted grants (including government grants) are those
received from unconditional transfers of cash or other assets
to the Centre. Unrestricted grants in currencies other than
United States dollars are recorded at the exchange rates in
effect at the time of receipt or, if outstanding on December
31, at the exchange rate in effect at the year end.

measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period.

Restricted grant revenue

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with

Restricted grants are those received from a transfer of

IFRS requires the use of estimates and assumptions. It also

resources to the Centre in return for past or future compliance

requires management to exercise its judgement in applying

with the operating activities of the Centre. Restricted grants

the Centre’s accounting policies. Areas involving a higher

in currencies other than United States dollars with specific

degree of judgement or complexity, or where assumptions

request to be paid in that currency as partner funds are

and estimates are significant to the Centre’s financial

recorded as income and expenses at the exchange rate in

statements, are disclosed in Note 3.

effect at the time of payment.

The financial statements are presented in United States

(i) Donations in kind

dollars, rounded to the nearest thousand (US$’000).
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(ii) Transactions and balances

Donations in kind are recognized at the fair value of the goods

(b) Functional currency and translation of foreign

or services received, or in the absence of this, at the amount

currencies

attributed to them by the donor.

(i) Functional and presentation currency

(ii) Other income

ICRAF’s financial statements are presented in United States

Interest, losses and gains related to financial instruments are

dollars, which is also the Centre’s functional currency. Assets

reported in the statement of financial activity as expenses or

and liabilities (excluding supplies, spare parts, property and

revenue. Interest is recorded using the effective interest rate

equipment) denominated in other currencies are converted at

method, which accurately discounts future flows of payments

the exchange rate in effect at the end of each financial period.

and cash receipts over the expected life of the financial

Grants received in currencies other than United States dollars

instrument, or a shorter duration as applicable with respect to

are recorded at the market exchange rate in effect at the time

the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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Property and equipment acquired from designated

(d) Property and equipment

(restricted) funds

Property and equipment with an estimated useful life
beyond one year and with costs in excess of US$1,500 or its

Property and equipment acquired from restricted funds are

equivalent are capitalized. The assets are stated at historical

expensed in accordance with the grant agreement. Property

cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditures

and equipment previously owned by a restricted project is

that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

recognized at fair or appraised value upon termination of the

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognized as a separate asset only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Centre and the cost of the item can be reliably
measured. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognized. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to the statement of financial activity during the financial
period in which they are incurred.

project if it is expressly provided in the grant agreement that
ownership of the item will be transferred to the Centre.
(e) Intangible assets
This relates to computer software. Intangible assets are
stated at historical cost less accumulated amortization and
accumulated impairment losses. Acquisition costs and costs
attributable to bringing the software into use are capitalized.
These costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation of other assets is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their
cost or revalued amounts to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

life of the software, which is currently 10 years.
(f) Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards

Buildings and laboratory benches

33 years

Prefabricated structures

16 years

of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases
(net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged

Motor vehicles

4 years

Computers and peripherals

4 years

lease.

Laboratory and scientific equipment

5 years

Office and other equipment

8 years

(g) Inventories

Furniture and fittings

8 years

Leased assets are depreciated over the lesser of the lease
term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that

to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the

Inventories are assets held in the form of materials or supplies
to be consumed in the Centre’s operations or in the rendering
of services. Inventories are initially valued at cost. The cost
of inventories applied to operations is based on the weighted

the Centre will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.

average cost principle. It includes expenditures incurred in

Property and equipment are reviewed for impairment

them to their existing locations and conditions. Inventories

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the greater of an asset’s fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating
units). Assets that suffer impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. Gains
and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount, and are included in the
statement of financial activity.

acquiring the inventories and other costs incurred in bringing
are written down to net realizable value on an item-by-item
basis. The allowance for inventory obsolescence is deducted
from the related asset. The write-down amount of inventories
to net realizable value and all losses of inventories is
recognized as an expense in the period when the write down
or loss occurs. Inventories held at the end of the financial
period are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value.
(h) Financial assets
All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending
on the classification of the financial assets.
Classification of financial instruments
All recognised financial assets that are within the scope
Audited Financial Statements
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of IFRS 9 are required to be measured subsequently at

unrestricted grant can be recognized as revenue, sufficient

amortised cost or fair value on the basis of the entity’s

verifiable evidence should exist documenting that a

business model for managing the financial assets and the

commitment was made by the donor and received by the

contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.

Centre.

Specifically:

• Receivables from restricted grants should be recognized in

• Debt instruments that are held within a business model
whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and

• Receivables from employees are recognized as they arise

that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of

and cancelled when payment is received.

principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding,
are measured subsequently at amortised cost;
• Debt instruments that are held within a business model
whose objective is both to collect the contractual cash flows
and to sell the debt instruments, and that have contractual
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding, are measured
subsequently at fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVTOCI);
• All other debt investments and equity investments are
measured subsequently at fair value through profit or loss

• Advances to other CGIAR centres are recognized when
the cash or other assets borrowed are delivered, or when
payment is made for a liability of another Centre.
• Other receivables are recognized upon the occurrence of
event or transaction, which gives the Centre a legal claim
against others.
Measurement
• Receivables are measured at the original invoice amount
because the effect of discounting is immaterial.

(FVTPL).

• Accounts receivable are valued at their net recoverable

Despite the foregoing, the Centre may make the following

any allowances provided for doubtful accounts.

irrevocable election/designation at initial recognition of a
financial asset:
• The Centre may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment that is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by
an acquirer in a business combination in other comprehensive
income; and
• The Centre may irrevocably designate a debt investment
that meets the amortised cost or FVTOCI criteria as measured
at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an

amounts, calculated as the gross amount of receivable minus

• Any receivable that has been assessed to be unrecoverable
is written off.
Impairment
The Centre recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses on investments in debt and equity instruments that are
measured at amortised cost or at fair value through statement
of financial activity, donor, partner and staff receivables.
The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial

accounting mismatch.

recognition of the respective financial instrument.

Accounts receivable

The Centre always recognises lifetime ECL for donor, partner

Receivables include claims from donors, advances to

financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based

employees, advances to other CGIAR centres. Accounts
receivable from donors consist of claims from donors for
grants pledged in line with the terms specified by the donor.
This also pertains to claims from donors for expenses paid on
behalf of projects in excess of cash received.
Recognition
• Receivables from unrestricted grants should be recognized
in full in the period specified by the donor. Before an
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and staff receivables. The expected credit losses on these
on the Centre’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current as well
as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date,
including time value of money where correlation exists.
For all other financial instruments, the Centre recognises
lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk
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on the financial instrument has not increased significantly

due to the Centre in accordance with the contract and all the

since initial recognition, the Centre measures the loss

cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted

allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to

at the original effective interest rate. The Centre recognises

lifetime ECL.

an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the

instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account.
(j) Cash and cash equivalents

Centre compares the risk of a default occurring on the

Cash comprises cash on hand, petty-cash funds, currencies

financial instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a

to be deposited and local or foreign currency deposits in

default occurring on the financial instrument at the date of

banks, which can be added to or withdrawn without limitation

initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Centre

and are immediately available for use in the Centre’s current

considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is

operations. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid

reasonable and supportable, including historical experience

investments that: (i) are readily convertible to known amounts

and forward‑looking information that is available without

of cash; and (ii) have original maturities of three months or

undue cost or effort.

less, minimizing the risk of changes in value resulting from

(ii) Definition of default
The Centre considers the following as constituting an event

interest rate changes.
(k) Income tax

of default for internal credit risk management purposes as

Through agreements or arrangements with host countries and

historical experience indicates that financial assets that meet

partners, the Centre is exempt from all local taxes in most of

either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable:

the countries in which it operates. Management is satisfied

• The Centre has not complied with the requirements of the
grant agreements;
• A partner has not liquidated amounts advanced within
the required timelines and the activities have not been
implemented.
• A member of staff separating from the Centre after receiving
final dues before repaying all amounts due to the Centre.
The Centre write-offs financial assets only when there
objective evidence that the debt will not be recovered and

that there is no material tax or other exposure (statutory,
regulatory or otherwise) arising in the various countries in
which ICRAF operates, including those where there are no tax
exemptions. Consequently, the Centre has not accounted for
income tax in its financial statements.
(l) Employee benefits
Employee benefits include all forms of consideration given
by the Centre in exchange for the services rendered by
all employees – whether internationally recruited staff or
nationally recruited staff. Employee benefits include the

after it has exhausted its collection avenues.

following:

(iii) Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

(i) Short-term benefits

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an

of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure
at default. The assessment of the probability of default and
loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward‑looking information where correlation exists.
As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is
represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the
reporting date.
For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated
as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are

undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service
is provided. A liability is recognized for the amount expected
to be paid under short-term cash bonus if the Centre has a
present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount
as a result of past service provided by the employee and the
obligation can be reliably estimated.
(ii) Defined contribution plan
A defined contribution plan is a pension plan in which the
Centre pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The
Centre has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
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contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to
pay all employees the benefits related to their service in the
current and prior periods. The Centre pays contributions to
publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans
on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. ICRAF has
no further payment obligations once the contributions have
been paid. Contributions are recognized as employee benefit
expenses when they are due. Prepaid contributions are
recognized as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a
reduction in the future payments is available. The Centre and
all its employees contribute to national social security funds
in their respective countries of operation.
(iii) Defined benefit plan

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable
right must not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and – in the
event of default – insolvency or bankruptcy of the Centre or
the counterparty.
(n) Trade payables
Trade payables are recognized initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined

interest method. Short-term payables with no stated interest

contribution plan. Employees are entitled to severance pay

rate are measured at the original invoice amount because the

(gratuity) based on number of years worked for the Centre,

effect of discounting is immaterial.

basic salary, local regulations and other demographic and
financial assumptions as required by IAS 19: Employee
benefits. The liability recognized in the statement of financial
position related to a defined benefit pension plan is the
present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end
of the reporting period. The defined benefit obligation is
calculated annually by independent actuaries using the
projected unit credit method. The present value of the
defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the
estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of highquality investments that are denominated in the currency
in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to
maturity approximating the terms of the related pension
obligation. Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are
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(m) Offsetting financial instruments

Trade payables represent amounts due to donors, employees
and others for support, services and materials received prior
to year end but not paid for as of the date of the statement of
financial position.
Accounts payable to donors include grants received from
donors for which conditions are not yet met and amounts
payable to donors related to any unexpended funds received
in advance for signed contracts.
Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if
payment is due within one year or less. If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.
Measurement:

charged or credited to other comprehensive income in the

Trade payables are recognized initially at fair value and

period in which they arise. Past-service costs are immediately

subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective

recognized in income.

interest method.

(iv) Termination benefits

(o) Provisions

Termination benefits are recognized as an expense when

Provisions are recognized when: (i) the Centre has a present

the Centre is demonstrably committed, without realistic

obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event;

possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan of either

(ii) it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying

terminating employment before the normal retirement date

economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation;

or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made

and (iii) a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of

to encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination benefits for

the obligation. When the Centre expects some or all of a

voluntary redundancies are recognized as an expense if: the

provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognized

Centre has made an offer encouraging voluntary redundancy;

as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is

it is probable that the offer will be accepted; and the number

certain. The expense related to a provision is presented in the

of acceptances can be reliably estimated.

statement of financial activity net of any reimbursement.
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(p) Net assets

Gratuity provision

Net assets comprise the residual interest in the entity's

Employees are entitled to severance pay (gratuity) based on

assets after liabilities are deducted. They are classified

the number of years worked for the Centre, basic salary, local

as either undesignated or as designated and other

regulation and other demographic and financial assumptions

comprehensive income.

as required by IAS 19: Employee benefits.

i) The use of undesignated net assets is not designated by

The provision is calculated using the projected unit

ICRAF Management for specific purposes.

credit method. Management used an actuary in the year

ii) Designated net assets comprise assets that have been
restricted by ICRAF as reserves for replacing property and
equipment, retirement of national staff and other activities or
purposes.

under review to calculate the gratuity provision, given the
complexities involved.
Useful lives of property and equipment
The Centre determines the estimated useful lives and

iii) Other comprehensive income includes the net changes

related depreciation charges for its property and equipment

in value of available-for-sale financial assets. It also includes

based on projected product lifecycles. This calculation may

the actuarial gain/(loss) resulting from the valuation of the

change significantly as a result of technical innovations and

defined benefit plan.

competitor actions in response to severe industry cycles.

(q) Work in progress
Work in progress pertains to properties in the course of
construction. It is carried at cost, less any recognized
impairment cost. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.
(r) Going concern
The financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis on the belief that funds will continue to be
received from donors. The Centre had current assets of
US$54.45 million and current liabilities of US$34.99 million
in 2018. This position presents a positive working capital
position of US$ 19.47 million (US$ 23.9 million in 2017),
indicating that the Centre will be able to meet its short-term
obligations as they fall due.
3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including experience of future events that are believed to be

Management will increase the depreciation charge when
useful lives are less than provided estimated lives, or it will
write off or write down technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned or sold.
Impairment losses
At the end of each reporting period, ICRAF reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss. Where it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, ICRAF estimates the recoverable amount of the cashgenerating unit to which the asset belongs.
Calculation of loss allowance
When measuring Expected Credit Losses (ECL), the Centre
makes judgements as to whether there are any observable
data indicating an impairment trigger followed by a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from
the financial assets before the decrease can be identified

reasonable under the circumstances.

with those financial assets.

The Centre makes estimates and assumptions concerning

Loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising on

the future. The resulting accounting estimates seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year are addressed below.

default. It is based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due and those that the Centre would expect to
receive, taking into account cash flows from collateral and
integral credit enhancements.
Probability of default constitutes a key input in measuring
ECL. Probability of default is an estimate of the likelihood
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of default over a given time horizon, the calculation of which includes historical data, assumptions and expectations of future
conditions.
4. Financial risk-management objectives and policies
The Centre’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks such as market risk (including foreign exchange risk and interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Centre’s overall risk management strategy focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on its financial performance. The Centre does not hedge any of its risk
exposures.
KES

GBP

EUR

Total

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

81

914

1,665

2,660

-

303

3,527

3,830

81

1,217

5,192

6,490

-

-

(4,173)

(4,173)

81

1,217

1,019

2,317

At 31 December 2018
Financial assets
Bank balances
Receivables and other current assets
Total
Financial liabilities
Trade payables
Net foreign currency exposure

Financial risk management is carried out by the Finance Department under policies approved by the Board of Trustees. The
Board provides written principles for overall risk management as well as written policies covering specific areas such as foreign
exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and investment of excess liquidity.

At 31 December 2017

KES

GBP

EUR

Total

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

81

366

3,519

3,966

-

398

3,409

3,807

81

764

6,928

7,773

-

(583)

(6,850)

(7,433)

81

181

78

340

Financial assets
Bank balances
Receivables and other current assets
Total
Financial liabilities
Trade payables
Net foreign currency exposure

Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk
The Centre keeps records in United States Dollars but receives grants from foreign countries in various currencies. Its funds
are held in Kenyan shillings (KES), British pounds (GBP), and Euros (EUR). This exposes the Centre to losses that may arise
from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. The Centre operates foreign currency bank accounts for all receipts and
payments in foreign currencies to minimize exposure to exchange risks.
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Below is a summary of the Centre’s foreign currency-denominated financial assets and liabilities, and their carrying amounts
At the end of each reporting period in 2018, if Kenyan shilling, British pound, and Euros had strengthened or weakened by
10% against the United States dollar, with all other variables held constant, the sensitized effect on the surplus or deficit would
have been a decrease or increase in surplus by US$ 0.231 million (US$ 0.340 million in 2017).
(ii)

Price risk

The Centre is exposed to securities price risk as a result of its holdings in investments which are listed securities and are
classified at fair value through profit and loss financial assets. Exposure to equity price risk in aggregate is monitored in order
to ensure compliance with the relevant regulatory limits for solvency purposes.
The Centre has a defined investment policy which sets limits on the Centre’s exposure to securities both in aggregate terms
and by category/share. This policy of diversification is used to manage the Centre’s price risk arising from its investments
in debt and equity securities. At 31 December 2018, if price of the securities had increased/decreased by 5%, with all other
variables held constant, the surplus/deficit for the year would increase/decrease by US$ 56,300.
(iii)

Interest rate risk

The Centre does not hold any borrowed funds from a third party and hence is not subject to interest rate risk.
Bond prices are subject to interest rate movements. A rise in interest rate will have a negative impact on bond prices, while a
decrease will have a positive impact.
Fully
Performing

Past due

Impaired

Total

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

15,830

-

-

15,830

205

-

-

205

Cash and cash equivalents

22,761

-

-

22,761

Receivables and other current assets

15,523

-

1,934

17,457

54,319

-

1,934

56,253

15,651

-

-

15,651

205

-

-

205

Cash and cash equivalents

17,377

-

-

17,377

Receivables and other current assets

23,483

-

2,444

25,927

56,716

-

2,444

59,160

2018
Investments
Term deposits

2017
Investments
Term deposits

Credit risk
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as accounts
receivable. Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty will default on its contractual obligations, resulting in financial loss to the
Centre.
Only reputable, well-established financial institutions are acceptable to ICRAF. For receivable balances:
• Reviews of aging reports are carried out monthly and provisions are made for doubtful amounts made for any potentially
irrecoverable amounts.
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• The Centre does not incur expenditures on restricted donor grants before funding contracts are signed.
• Advances to partner and hosted organizations are subject to the Centre’s internal requirements to limit losses arising from
funds advanced by the Centre.
The amount that best represents the Centre’s maximum exposure to credit risk at 31 December is made up as follows:
IFRS 9 Assessment
The Centre measures its debt instruments at their fair value at the end of subsequent accounting periods and an impairment
analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates
are based on days past due for various customer segments with similar loss patterns.
The Centre debt instruments of which IFRS 9 is applicable are Financial Assets held for Trading, Donor Receivables, Partner
(Sub-grantees) Receivables and Staff Receivables.
Financial Assets held for Trading
These are in form of short term deposits with banks and bonds with maturity dates of up to a maximum of 3 years. There
has not been any recorded aggregated losses in the past on such instruments and the Centre does not expect to record any
aggregated losses in the future.
Donor Receivables
Donor Receivables comprise of amounts owed to the Centre by various donors and constitute obligations that are guided
by legal agreements entered between the donors and the Centre. Donor receivables with similar loss patterns are classified
separately as shown below:
CGIAR Centre’s
- Accounts for 12% of the receivables in 2018.
- CGIAR Centres main funders are USAID, Netherlands, DFID, EU, GIZ, NORAD, ACIAR and DANIDA. The credit rating by
Moody for the governments backing these organizations is stable. Hence, the Centre has rated these as low risk
Governments -Europe & Americas
- Accounts for 12% of the receivables in 2018
- Significant funding in this category is from the following governments - USA, Netherlands, Sweden, Australia, Denmark,
United Kingdom, France, Canada, Finland and Switzerland. The credit rating by Moody for these governments is stable.
Hence, the Centre has rated these as low risk
Governments -Others
- Accounts for 6% of the receivables 2018
- Significant funding in this category is from the African Development Bank, Kenya, South Africa. The credit rating by S&P for
these governments is investment grade. Hence, the Centre has rated these as low risk
International Organizations
- Accounts for 49% of the receivables in 2018
- Significant funding in this category is from IFAD
- The primary donors of these organizations are the governments in Europe & Americas who have been assessed and rated as
low risk
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Expected Credit Loss as at 31 December 2018
Category

0 -1 Year

1 -2 Years

2 -3 Years

3-4 Years

4-5 Years

CGIAR Centres

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

Governments -Europe & Americas

2%

19%

22%

0%

0%

Governments -Others

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

International Organisations

6%

16%

33%

0%

0%

Private Sector

4%

32%

39%

0%

100%

United Nations

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

Total exposure as at 31st December 2018
Category

0 -1 Year

1 -2 Years

2 -3 Years

3-4 Years

4-5 Years

Total

1,092

77

0

-

-

1,169

Governments -Europe & Americas

766

329

8

-

0

1,102

Governments -Others

566

-

-

-

-

566

International Organisations

3,227

1,230

138

-

0

4,595

Private Sector

1,616

110

-

-

19

1,745

250

0

18

-

-

268

7,517

1,746

163

-

19

9,445

0 -1 Year

1 -2 Years

2 -3 Years

3-4 Years

4-5 Years

Total

-

-

-

-

-

-

12

61

2

-

-

75

-

-

-

-

-

-

192

191

46

-

-

429

58

35

-

-

19

112

-

-

-

-

-

-

262

287

48

-

19

616

CGIAR Centres

United Nations
Total

Total Impairment as at 31st December 2018
Category
CGIAR Centres
Governments -Europe & Americas
Governments -Others
International Organisations
Private Sector
United Nations
Total

Day 1 Adjustment
The impairment provision if computed as at 31st December 2017 would have been $1.641m based on loss rates matrix
computed and applied on the donor receivables as at 31st December 2018.

Loss Rates
Category

0 -1 Year

1 -2 Years

2 -3 Years

3-4 Years

CGIAR Centres

0%

0%

0%

0%

Governments -Europe & Americas

2%

19%

22%

0%

Governments -Others

0%

0%

0%

0%

International Organisations

6%

16%

33%

0%

Private Sector

4%

32%

39%

0%

United Nations

0%

0%

0%

0%
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Total exposure as at 31st December 2017
Category

0 -1 Year

1 -2 Years

2 -3 Years

3-4 Years

Total

CGIAR Centres

1,089

94

-

-

1,183

Governments -Europe & Americas

2,625

1,174

-

17

3,816

176

-

-

-

176

International Organisations

3,617

1,185

-

612

5,414

Private Sector

1,750

140

-

245

2,135

167

102

-

-

269

9,423

2,695

-

874

12,992

0 -1 Year

1 -2 Years

2 -3 Years

3-4 Years

Total

-

-

-

-

-

42

220

-

17

278

-

-

-

-

-

215

184

-

612

1,011

63

45

-

245

352

-

-

-

-

-

319

448

-

874

1,641

Governments -Others

United Nations

Total Impairment as at 31st December 2017
Category
CGIAR Centres
Governments -Europe & Americas
Governments -Others
International Organisations
Private Sector
United Nations

Private Sector
- Accounts for 18% of the receivables in 2018
- The main funder under this category is the MARS Incorporated whose annual revenue is over $35 billion. The company is in
good financial standing and hence the Centre has rated it as low risk
United Nations
- Accounts for 3% of the receivables in 2018
- UN main funders are USA, Netherlands, Sweden, Australia, Canada, Finland and Switzerland. The credit rating by Moody for
these governments is stable. Hence, we have rated these as low risk

Partner Receivables
The Centre works with several partners in implementing its’ programs. These partnerships are guided by agreements entered
between the partners and the Centre which stipulates the process of advancing funds to the partners and accounting of the
funds by the partners. The partners are expected to refund any funds not utilised and accounted for to the Centre. Partner
receivables with similar loss patterns are classified separately as shown below:
CG Centres
- Accounts for 9% of the receivables in 2018
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- CGIAR Centres adopt similar accounting policies and procedures with ICRAF and are expected to provide satisfactory
technical and financial reports to support funds to them. Hence, we have rated these as low risk
- On average, CGIAR Centres take a year to account for funds advanced to them by ICRAF. This is the expected timelines
based on the nature of implementation of Research activities.
Community Based Organizations
- Accounts for 6% of the receivables in 2018
- On average, Community Based Organizations take 1 year to account for funds advanced to them by ICRAF.
International NGOs –
- Accounts for 63% of the receivables in 2018
- Significant balances in this category relates to Catholic Relief Services, World Vision International and CARE International.
These organizations have robust financial systems and hence and hence have been assessed and rated as low risk.
- On average, INGOs Centres take 6 months to one year to account for funds advanced to them by ICRAF. This is the expected
timelines based on the nature of implementation of Research activities.

Expected Credit Loss as at 31 December 2018
Loss Rates
Category

0 -1 Year

1 -2 Years

2 -3 Years

3-4 Years

4-5 Years

CGIAR Centres

0%

0%

1%

10%

100%

Community Based Organizations

9%

58%

65%

99%

100%

INGOs

2%

48%

76%

78%

100%

16%

69%

61%

100%

100%

5%

18%

23%

91%

100%

National Research Institute
Universities

Total exposure as at 31st December 2018
Category

0 -1 Year

1 -2 Years

2 -3 Years

3-4 Years

4-5 Years

Total

CGIAR Centres

402

31

6

15

131

585

Community Based Organizations

175

1

67

41

117

401

3,357

80

87

147

250

3,921

National Research Institute

505

24

8

12

110

659

Universities

458

90

103

10

17

678

4,898

226

271

224

626

6,245

INGOs

Total
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Total impairment as at 31st December 2018
Category

0 -1 Year

1 -2 Years

2 -3 Years

3-4 Years

4-5 Years

Total

0

0

0

1

131

133

Community Based Organizations

16

0

44

40

117

218

INGOs

57

39

66

115

250

527

National Research Institute

78

17

5

12

110

222

Universities

23

16

24

9

17

89

174

72

139

178

626

1,188

CGIAR Centres

Total

Day 1 Adjustment
The impairment provision if computed as at 31st December 2017 would have been $1.607m based on loss rates matrix
computed and applied on the partner receivables as at 31st December 2018.

Category

0 -1 Year

1 -2 Years

2 -3 Years

3-4 Years

CG Centres

0%

0%

1%

10%

Community Based Organizations

9%

58%

65%

99%

INGOs

2%

48%

76%

78%

16%

69%

61%

100%

5%

18%

23%

91%

National Research Institute
Universities

Total exposure as at 31st December 2017
Category

0 -1 Year

1 -2 Years

2 -3 Years

3-4 Years

Total

704

267

276

436

1,682

53

122

88

119

381

3,185

98

216

319

3,818

National Research Institute

382

25

51

110

569

Universities

370

204

179

19

772

4,694

716

810

1,002

7,222

0 -1 Year

1 -2 Years

2 -3 Years

3-4 Years

Total

CG Centres

0

0

1

436

437

Community Based Organizations

5

71

57

119

251

INGOs

54

47

165

319

585

National Research Institute

59

17

31

110

218

Universities

18

37

41

19

115

137

172

296

1,002

1,607

CG Centres
Community Based Organizations
INGOs

Total

Total impairment as at 31st December 2017
Category
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Staff Receivables
The Centre also does not expect future losses arising from Staff Receivables because these receivables relate to advances
to staff for travel and program activities which the respective staff account for once the travel and the program activities
are completed. The probability of future losses arising from such receivables is very low and the Centre has not historically
realised any significant losses on such receivables.

Expected Credit Loss as at 31st December 2018
Loss Rates
Category

0-30

31-60

61-90

91-120

121-150

151-180

Over 180

Staff Receivables

22%

31%

39%

52%

69%

93%

100%

Total exposure as at 31st December 2018
Category
Staff Receivables

0-30

31-60

61-90

91-120

121-150

151-180

Over 180

Total

267

144

40

30

21

12

360

873

Total Impairment as at 31st December 2018
Category
Staff Receivables

0-30

31-60

61-90

91-120

121-150

151-180

Over 180

Total

59

44

16

15

15

11

360

519

Day 1 Adjustment
The impairment provision if computed as at 31st December 2017 would have been $ 0.732m based on loss rates matrix
computed and applied on the staff receivables as at 31st December 2018.

Loss Rates
Category

0-30

31-60

61-90

91-120

121-150

151-180

Over 180

Staff Receivables

22%

31%

39%

52%

69%

93%

100%

Total exposure as at 31st December 2017
Category
Staff Receivables

0-30

31-60

61-90

91-120

121-150

151-180

Over 180

Total

219

164

91

59

33

23

523

1,111

Total Impairment as at 31st December 2017
Category
Staff Receivables

0-30

31-60

61-90

91-120

121-150

151-180

Over 180

Total

48

50

36

30

23

22

523

732
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IFRS 9 Assessment – Provisions Summary
Receivables Category

31st December 2017

31st December 2018

(Day 1 Adjustment workings)

US$‘000

US$‘000
IFRS 9
Assessment

Actual

Difference

IFRS 9
Assessment

Actual

Difference

Donors

1,641

2,294

(653)

616

616

-

Partners

1,607

-

1,188

1,188

-

Staff

732

150

582

519

130

389

Total

3,980

2,444

1,536

2,323

1934

389

(a)

(b)

National Research Institutes (NARIs)
- Accounts for 11% of the receivables in 2018
- On average, NARIs take between one to two years to account for funds advanced to them by ICRAF. This is slightly beyond
expected timeline of one year based on the nature of implementation of Research activities.
Universities
- Accounts for 11% of the receivables in 2018
- On average, Universities take 1.5 years to account for funds advanced to them by ICRAF. This is slightly beyond expected
timeline of one year based on the nature of implementation of Research activities.
a) The difference of US$ 1,536 is between actual provisions recorded and what would have been the case if IFRS 9 was
applied on 31 December 2017. This amount has been recorded as day 1 adjustment.
b) The risk of non-recoverability of the over 180 days staff balances is low and therefore the provision of US$ 0.130 million
against the computed amount of US$ 0.519 million is sufficient, Subsequently US$ 0.133 million of the over 180 days balances
has been recovered which represents 37% of the outstanding amounts as at 31 December 2018. There also exists an internal
mechanism of recovering staff advances when staff leave the organization whereby staff are not paid final dues until the
respective staff accounts are cleared.
Incorporation of forward-looking information
In determining the expected credit loss, the Centre concluded that there was no correlation between the default and macro
economic variables. Forward looking information was therefore not incorporated in the model when arriving at the expected
credit loss.
Impairment losses reserve
The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of receivables during the year was as follows:
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2018

2017

US$ ‘000

US$ ‘000

2,294

971

(653)

-

1,125

1,349

(2,150)

(26)

616

2,294

-

-

1,607

-

(419)

-

-

-

1,188

-

Balance at 1 January

150

-

Day one IFRS 9 adjustment

582

-

(519)

150

(83)

-

130

150

Donor receivables
Balance at 1 January
Day one IFRS 9 adjustment
Provisions during the year
Write off during the year

Partner receivables
Balance at 1 January
Day one IFRS 9 adjustment
Provision write back during the year
Write off during the year

Staff receivables

Provision write back during the year
Write off during the year

Liquidity risk

		

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Centre will not be able to meet its financial obligations when they fall due. The Centre’s
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities
when they fall due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or at the risk of
damaging the Centre's reputation. The Centre ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational
expenses, including the servicing of financial obligations. This excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that
cannot reasonably be predicted. All liquidity policies and procedures are subject to review and approval by the Board Of
Trustees.
The table below provides a contractual maturity analysis of the Centre’s financial liabilities. All balances are due within
12 months, hence their carrying amounts are equal to their undiscounted cash flows as the impact of discounting is not
significant.
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1-6 Months

6-12 Months

1-5 Years

Total

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

At 31 December 2018
Financial liabilities
Accounts payable
Accounts payable – employees

25,022

7,924

-

32,946

608

1,432

3,908

5,948

25,630

1,432

3,908

5,948

24,883

7,880

-

32,763

314

33

6,035

6,382

25,917

7,913

6,035

39,145

At 31 December 2017
Financial liabilities
Accounts payable
Accounts payable – employees

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
(i) Fair value hierarchy
The Centre specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques are
observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources; unobservable inputs
reflect the Centre’s market assumptions. These two types of inputs have created the following fair value hierarchy:
• Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. This level includes equity securities and debt
instruments listed on a securities exchange.
• Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly as
prices or indirectly as derived from prices.
• Level 3 – Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). This level
includes equity investments and debt instruments with significant unobservable components.
This hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The Centre considers relevant and observable
market prices in its valuations whenever possible.

Notes

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

15,830

-

-

15,830

15,830

-

-

15,830

15,651

-

-

15,651

15,651

-

-

15,651

At 31 December 2018
Financial assets
Fair value through profit and loss

7(a)

At 31 December 2017
Financial assets
Fair value through profit and loss
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7(a)

-

-

-

Transfer from
WIP

Disposals

Write offs

5,238

3,765

At end of
year

Net book
value at end
of year

-

285

Charge for
the year

Disposal

5,253

At start of
year

Accumulated
depreciation

9,303

-

Additions

At end of
year

9,303

US$’000

At start of
year

Cost

Year ended
31 December 2018

Physical
facilities

Property and equipment

132

363

-

9

354

495

-

-

-

-

495

US$’000

Infrastructure
& leasehold

12

1,012

(41)

18

1,035

1,024

-

(41)

-

-

1,065

US$’000

Motor
vehicles

946

4,840

(66)

329

4,577

5,786

-

(68)

-

119

5,735

US$’000

Furnishing &
equipment

UNRESTRICTED (Centre assets)

-

-

-

US$’000

Work in
progress

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

4,855

11,753

(107)

641

11,219

16,608

-

(109)

-

119

16,598

US$’000

Total

-

353

-

-

353

353

-

-

-

353

US$’000

Physical
facilities

-

-

-

-

US$’000

Infrastructure
& leasehold

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

4,966

(295)

335

4,926

4,966

-

(295)

-

335

4,926

US$’000

Motor
vehicles

-

5,526

(12)

300

5,239

5,526

(12)

-

300

5,239

US$’000

Furnishing &
equipment

-

-

-

-

-

-

(298)

-

-

2

296

US$’000

Work in
progress

RESTRICTED (Project Assets)

-

10,846

(307)

635

10,518

10,846

(298)

(307)

-

637

10,814

US$’000

Total

4,855

22,599

(414)

1,276

21,737

27,454

(298)

(416)

-

756

27,412

US$’000

Grand
Total
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-

-

9,303

Transfer
from WIP

Disposals

At end of
year

5,253

4,050

Net book
value at end
of year

141

354

-

10

344

495

-

-

-

495

US$’000

Infrastructure &
leasehold

30

1,035

-

23

1,012

1,065

-

-

1,065

US$
‘000

Motor
Vehicles

1,158

4,577

(61)

344

4,294

5,735

(61)

44

5,752

US$’000

Furnishing &
equipment

UNRESTRICTED (Centre Assets)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

US$’000

Work in
progress

5,379

11,219

(61)

698

10,582

16,598

(61)

-

44

16,615

US$’000

Total

-

353

-

7

346

353

-

5

2

346

US$’000

Physical
facilities

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

US$’000

Infrastructure
& leasehold

-

4,926

-

99

4,827

4,926

-

99

4,827

US$’000

Motor
Vehicles

-

5,239

(71)

392

4,918

5,239

(71)

168

224

4,918

US$’000

Furnishing &
equipment

296

-

-

-

-

296

(173)

469

US$’000

Work in
progress

296

10,518

(71)

498

10,091

10,814

(71)

-

325

10,560

US$’000

Total

5,675

21,737

(132)

1,196

20,673

27,412

(132)

-

369

27,175

US$’000

Grand
Total

** As at 31 December 2018, property and equipment totalling US$17.2 million (US$15.4 million in 2017) were fully depreciated. The notional depreciation charge
would have been US$3.4 million (US$3.1 million in 2017).

-

At end of
year

321

Charge for
the year

Disposal

4,932

At start of
year

Accumulated Depreciation

-

9,303

US$ ‘000

Additions

year

At start of

Cost

Year ended
31 December 2017

Physical
facilities

Property and equipment
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6. Intangible assets
2018

2017

US$‘000

US$‘000

916

916

253

161

92

92

At end of year

345

253

Carrying amount at 31 December

571

663

Software/other
Cost
At the start and end of year
Amortization
At start of year
Charge for the year

7 (a). Investments held at fair value through profit and loss
At 1 January

15,651

15,800

3,122

3,694

(2,826)

(3,843)

Fair value losses

(117)

-

At 31 December

15,830

15,651

Additions
Disposals at carrying value

7 (b). Term deposits held at amortised cost
Deposit (remaining maturity of 3 months
to 1 year)

205

205

134

297

-

(8)

134

289

8. Inventories
Computers, stationery and office supplies
Less allowance for obsolescence
Total
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9. Receivables and other current assets
2018

2017

US$‘000

US$‘000

9,445

12,992

(616)

(2,294)

Total

8,829

10,698

Prepayments

1,248

1,428

873

1,114

Other CGIAR Centres

1,072

2,926

Associated organizations (partners and collaborators)

6,245

7,222

110

245

(130)

(150)

Donors
Less provision for donor receivables

Advances to staff

Others
Less provision for doubtful staff receivables
Less provision for doubtful partners receivables

(1,188)

Day 1 adjustment - impact of IFRS 9

(1,536)

Total

Net total accounts receivables

6,694

12,785

15,523

23,483

2,294

971

472

1,349

(2,150)

(26)

616

2,294

18,430

14,611

4,331

2,766

22,761

17,377

Movements on the provision for impairment of donor receivables
are as follows:
At start of year
Charge in the year
Write offs

10. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank and in hand
Short-term deposits
Total

The short term deposits are denominated in United States Dollars (USD) and have a maturity of three months or less from the
date of acquisition or are repayable immediately with no loss of interest. The effective interest rates on the short term deposits
as at 31 December was 3.5%(3.5% in 2017)
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5,923

-

Actuarial gain on retirement benefit obligation

Balance at 31 December 2018

-

(1,956)

466

-

7,413

-

7,413

-

5,426

-

-

-

-

(912)

6,338

-

6,338

-

6,072

-

-

-

-

912

5,160

-

5,160

-

-

3,976

-

-

-

(466)

-

4,442

-

4,442

-

-

-

(1,294)

5,584

US$’000

Other designated

(1,142)

919

4,241

US$’000

Capital Replacements /
Acquisitions

Designated

1,142

(919)

7,257

US$’000

US$’000
7,565

Property and
equipment

Undesignated

Other comprehensive income:

Deficit for the year

Strategic investment fund

Net changes in investment in property and equipment

As at 1 January 2018 as restated

IFRS 9 day 1 adjustment

Balance at 31 December 2017

Actuarial gain on retirement benefit obligation

Other comprehensive income:

Deficit for the year

Strategic investment fund

Net changes in investment in property and equipment

Balance at 31 December 2016

11. Net assets

15,474

-

-

-

(466)

-

15,940

-

15,940

-

-

(1,142)

-

17,082

US$’000

Subtotal

1,124

279

-

-

-

-

845

-

845

8

-

-

-

837

US$’000

Actuarial gain/(loss)

Other comprehensive
Income

20,985

279

-

(1,956)

-

-

22,662

(1536)

24,198

8

(1,294)

-

-

25,484

US$’000

Actuarial
gain/(loss)

Total
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The level of net assets recommended by the Board of trustees is 75-90 days of operating expenses excluding
depreciation. As at 31 December 2018, the Centre’s net assets represented 114 days (126 days in 2017) of its
operating expenses, excluding depreciation.
Net assets include both the designated and undesignated portions.
Undesignated
The actual balance in the undesignated portion as at 31 December 2018 was US$5.923 million (US$7.413 million
in 2017), which is presented as unrestricted (undesignated) net assets. The deficit for the year of US$1.956 million
(deficit of US$1.294 million in 2017) represents the total losses incurred by the Centre during the year.
Designated
a) Net investment in property and equipment
A portion of unrestricted net assets has been appropriated by the Board of Trustees to reflect net investment in
property and equipment.
The balance of US$5.426 million as at 31 December 2018 (US$6.338 million in 2017) comprises the balance
brought forward from 2017 and the current year’s net decrease in fixed assets of US$912,000 (decrease of
US$919,000 in 2017).
b) Reserve for acquisition and replacement of property and equipment
Each financial year, the Centre appropriates from the unrestricted net assets an amount equal to the movement
in the net book value of its property and equipment, and any other specific allocation, into a reserve designated
to meet the acquisition and replacement costs for property and equipment items.
The net balance of US$6.072 million (US$5.160 million in 2017) as at 31 December 2018 represents unspent
funding available for use by the Centre in future years for acquisition and replacement of property and
equipment.
c) Other designations
In 2015, the Centre made the following appropriations from undesignated net assets:
• US$2.300 million to cater for any future funding shortfalls;
• US$2.351 million to cater for strategic investments; and
• US$1.259 million to cater for other contingencies arising from adverse foreign currency and other events
which could pose a risk to the Centre’s continuity.
In 2016, the Centre utilized US$ 0.326 million from the Strategic Investment Fund. The balance as at 31
December 2016 was US$2.025 million. In 2017, the Centre utilized US$1.142 million from the Strategic
Investment Fund. The balance as at 31 December 2017 was US$ 0.883 million. In 2018, the Centre utilized US$
0.466 million from the Strategic Investment Fund. The balance as at 31 December 2018 was US$ 0.417 million.
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12. Retirement benefit obligation
2018
US$’000

2017
US$’000

5,948

6,382

Non-current portion

3,908

6,035

Current portion

2,040

347

Present value of retirement benefit obligation
Split as follows:

The movement of the retirement benefit obligation is as follows:
Severance (staff gratuity)
At start of year

6,382

5,693

527

1,537

Leavers

(682)

(840)

Credit to other comprehensive income

(279)

(8)

5,948

6,382

Charge to other comprehensive income

At 31 December

Assumptions for retirement benefit obligation
Employees are entitled to severance pay (gratuity) based on the number of years worked for the Centre, basic salary, local
regulation and other demographic and financial assumptions as required by IAS 19, Employee benefits. An actuarial valuation
was carried out on the staff gratuity scheme as at 31 December 2018. This is a non-contributory and unfunded scheme. The
principal features of the actuarial valuation are as follows:
An actuarial valuation was carried out on the staff gratuity scheme as at 31 December 2018. This is a non-contributory and
unfunded scheme. The principal features of the actuarial valuation are as follows:
Assumptions for staff gratuity:
Mortality:		

As per the Kenyan mortality tables (KE 2001-2003).

Withdrawal rate:

12.08% per annum

Salary growth:

1.8% to 7%

Discount rate:

1.14%

Retirement age:
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13. Accounts payable
2018

2017

US$’000

US$’000

22,881

19,807

284

1,360

Accrued expenses

4,293

3,007

Repatriation costs

619

1,934

Associated organizations (partners and collaborators)

884

2,069

Trade creditors

1,937

1,808

Employees

1,134

1,345

914

1,433

32,946

32,763

Donors – restricted
Other CGIAR centres

Other payables
Total

14. Grant revenue

Donor
receivables
1/01/2018

Donor
payables Receipts
1/01/2018
in 2018

Donor
receivables
31/12/2018

Donor
payables
31/12/2018

Total grant
revenue for
2018

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

-

-

16

29

-

45

Restricted

(12,992)

19,807

61,895

9,416

(22,881)

55,245

Total

(12,992)

19,807

61,911

9,445

(22,881)

55,290

Donor
payables Receipts
1/01/2017
in 2017

Donor
receivables
31/12/2017

Donor
payables
31/12/2017

Total grant
revenue for
2017

Unrestricted

Donor
receivables
1/01/2017
US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

-

-

305

40

-

345

Restricted

(15,430)

18,888

55,783

12,952

(19,807)

52,386

Total

(15,430)

18,888

56,088

12,992

(19,807)

52,731

Unrestricted

15. Other Income

Administration fees
Gain on sale of equipment
Adjustment for prior years accruals and provisions*
Miscellaneous (loss) / income
Total
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2018

2017

US$’000

US$’000

580

504

54

99

1,880

1,411

(22)

252

2,492

2,266

*The process of reconciliation
of accruals and clean up was
completed in December 2018.
Adjustment for prior year’s
accruals is not envisaged in the
future as the current accruals are
valid and will crystallize in 2019.
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16. Finance income and costs

2018

2017

US$’000

US$’000

191

368

Exchange loss

(514)

(178)

Total

(322)

191

2018

2017

US$’000

US$’000

34,771

34,853

CGIAR collaboration costs

1,323

1,421

Other collaboration costs

13,285

12,515

49, 379

48,789

General and administration costs

10,036

7,692

Total administrative, research and collaborator costs

59,415

56,481

2018
US$’000

2017
US$’000

15,279

16,076

Defined contribution scheme

1,581

1,875

National social security funds

327

377

5,894

6,632

23,081

24,960

Investment income

17. Expenses by nature

Research costs

18. Employee benefits expense

Salaries and wages
Retirement benefits costs:

Other personnel costs
Total

19. Key management compensation
Key management includes directors (executive and non-executive) and members of Senior Management. The compensation
paid or payable to key management for employee services is shown below:
2018
US$’000

2017
US$’000

1,008

1,049

Post-employment benefits

89

96

Honorarium

71

47

1,168

1,192

Key management compensation
Salaries and other short-term employment benefits

20. Contingent liabilities
A guarantee for US$8,000 has been issued by ICRAF’s bankers in favour of third parties and has been issued in the normal
course of business.
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*One-off items that are not part of the Center’s regular operations

Notes:

21. Statement of activities and other comprehensive income
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21. Statement of activities and other comprehensive income

2017

2018

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Exhibit 1:
Held for trading financial assets

Bonds with remaining maturity of more than 1
year

Nominal
Amount
(US$)

Maturity Date

Years to
Maturity

Price at
Acquisition
(US$)

Clean
Price at 31
December
2018 (US$)

GL balance
at 31
December
2018 (US$)

6% REGD NTS HOLCIM US FIN SARL & CIE

200,000

30/12/2019

1.00

237,584

1.03

205,170

6% NTS BOSTON SCIENTIFIC CORP

100,000

15/01/2020

1.04

117,906

1.03

105,298

2.916%DEUTSCHE TEL FLR20

250,000

17/01/2020

1.05

250,200

1.00

250,945

2.125% BONDS LANDESBANK BADEN

200,000

31/01/2020

1.08

199,866

0.99

202,124

2 5/8 NTS HCP INC

20,000

01/02/2020

1.09

20,052

0.99

20,081

4 3/8% NOTES SHELL INTERNATIONAL FINANCE

300,000

25/03/2020

1.23

339,239

1.02

308,876

0.125% TREASURY NOTES

235,000

15/04/2020

1.29

237,469

1.06

248,139

2.75% NOTES JPMORGAN CHASE & CO

160,000

23/06/2020

1.48

159,853

0.99

159,170

1.1575% NOTES AT&T

250,000

30/06/2020

1.50

250,200

1.01

252,225

4 1/8% NOTES HSBC BANK PLC

250,000

12/08/2020

1.62

274,728

1.02

258,203

3.2% ING BK QUARTERLY

250,000

17/08/2020

1.63

252,384

1.01

252,778

2.35% ELECTRICITE DE FRANCE-INT S/A

300,000

13/10/2020

1.79

309,022

0.99

297,509

2.125% KOOKMIN BANK- INT S/A

250,000

21/10/2020

1.81

249,375

0.98

245,946

2 3/8% ASTRAZENECA PLC -INT S/A

300,000

16/11/2020

1.88

310,662

0.98

295,945

3.45% NTS VERIZON COMM -INT S/A

66

40,000

15/03/2021

2.21

40,107

1.01

40,683

2.25 MTN NATIONAL AUSTRALIA BANK -INT S/A

250,000

16/03/2021

2.21

250,458

0.99

247,883

1.7801% MTN SVENSKA HANDELSBANKEN AB

300,000

30/03/2021

2.25

303,202

1.01

303,357

1 7/8% BONDS BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA

300,000

26/04/2021

2.32

298,734

0.98

294,142

1.75% NOTES VERIZON COMMUNICATIONS

250,000

15/08/2021

2.62

249,109

0.96

242,801

1.70% NOTES BAXTER INTERNATIONAL

250,000

15/08/2021

2.62

249,937

0.96

241,376

1.83578% BNZ INTL - INT -Q

250,000

14/09/2021

2.71

250,965

1.01

252,201

1.90% NOTES ORACLE CORP -INT S/A

120,000

15/09/2021

2.71

119,887

0.97

117,233

0.125% TREASURY INFL IDX - INT S/A

745,000

15/01/2022

3.04

768,586

1.08

808,620

2.375% NESTLE HOLDINGS

250,000

18/01/2022

3.05

249,399

0.99

252,448

1.75733% NOTES KOREA DEVT BANK - INT - Q

250,000

27/02/2022

3.16

250,220

1.00

250,911

2.95% NOTES EMD FINANCIAL LLC - INT S/A

40,000

19/03/2022

3.22

40,029

0.98

39,646

2.875% NOTES CK HUTCHISON INTL - INT S/A

250,000

05/04/2022

3.26

250,240

0.98

247,462

2.875% NOTES ENEL FINANCE INTL - INT S/A

250,000

25/05/2022

3.40

250,697

0.94

235,774

2.7 % STARBUCKS CORP - INT S/A

250,000

15/06/2022

3.46

250,122

0.98

244,949

2.84% RECKITT BENCKISER TREASURY - INT -Q

250,000

24/06/2022

3.48

250,200

0.98

245,427

3 1/8% NOTES AMERICA MOVIL SAB -INT S/A

200,000

16/07/2022

3.54

208,114

0.98

199,013

2.5% BONDS SUMITOOMO CORP - INT S/A

250,000

13/09/2022

3.70

249,895

0.97

243,210

2.5 NOTES PHILIP MORRIS -INT S/A

250,000

02/11/2022

3.84

249,127

0.96

240,817

1 5/8% TREASURY NOTES -INT S/A

775,000

15/11/2022

3.88

768,615

0.97

752,049
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Bonds with remaining maturity of more than
1 year

Nominal
Amount
(US$)

Maturity Date

Years to
Maturity

Price at
Acquisition
(US$)

Clean
Price at 31
December
2018
(US$)

GL balance
at 31
December
2018 (US$)

2.18802% MTNS COOPERATIVE RABOBANK -INT
-Q

250,000

10/01/2023

4.03

250,296

0.99

249,048

0.125% TREASURY BONDS USA -INT S/A

300,000

15/01/2023

4.04

312,506

1.06

317,738

2.625% NOTES MOODY'S CORP -INT S/A

200,000

15/01/2023

4.04

200,443

0.96

193,836

3.15% NOTES KINDER MORGAN -INT S/A

150,000

15/01/2023

4.04

150,909

0.97

147,516

3.2% NOTES CONSTELLATION BRANDS -INT S/A

250,000

15/02/2023

4.13

249,170

0.97

246,038

2.589% NOTES DANONE SA -INT S/A

200,000

02/11/2023

4.84

196,522

0.95

191,682

2.75% TREASURY NOTES -INT S/A

500,000

28/02/2025

6.17

501,948

1.01

509,771

3.375% NOTES UNILEVER CAPITAL CORP- INT S/A

225,000

22/03/2025

6.23

223,005

1.00

226,190

4.1 NOTES CVS HEALTH CORP GLOBAL- INT S/A

200,000

25/03/2025

6.24

199,751

0.99

200,390

Total

10,884,617

Bonds with remaining maturity of 3 months to
1 year

Nominal
Amount
(US$)

Maturity Date

Years to
Maturity

Price at
Acquisition
(US$)

Clean
Price at 31
December
2018 (US$)

GL balance
at 31
December
2018 (US$)

7.3% NTS MORGAN STANLEY

100,000

13/05/2019

0.36

124,464

1.01

102,425

3 1/8% US TREASURY NTS

400,000

15/05/2019

0.37

455,486

1.00

402,557

2.05% NOTES BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA

400,000

05/06/2019

0.43

400,208

1.00

398,909

2.67% NOTES TOTAL CAPITAL INTERNATIONAL

300,000

19/06/2019

0.47

300,240

1.00

300,412

3.5% NOTES GENERAL MOTORS FINANCIAL

250,000

10/07/2019

0.52

259,774

1.00

253,687

7/8% TREASURY NOTES USA

500,000

31/07/2019

0.58

480,370

0.99

497,073

6% MEDIUM TERM NTS GENERAL ELECTRIC CAP
CORP

200,000

07/08/2019

0.60

245,458

1.01

207,005

1.6476% NOTES FORD MOTOR CREDIT CO

200,000

12/08/2019

0.61

200,160

1.00

200,279

1.625% MORTGAGE COVERED BONDS

200,000

30/08/2019

0.66

200,068

0.99

199,503

4 5/8% EURO MTNS OPTUS FINANCE PTY

250,000

15/10/2019

0.79

271,881

1.01

254,924

1.75% NOTES PROCTER & GAMBLE CO

180,000

25/10/2019

0.82

180,081

0.99

178,844

Total

2,995,619

Amount
at Maturity
(USD)

Maturity Date

Years to
Maturity

Price at
Acquisition
(USD)

Clean Price
at 31-12-18

GL balance
at 31
December
2018 (USD)

2 1/4% NTS RABOBANK NEDERLAND

250000

14/01/2019

0.04

248,769

0.9994

252,444

2.1% NOTES ABN AMRO BANK

250000

18/01/2019

0.05

252,250

0.99945

252,225

2 1/2% NOTES SANTANDER UK PLC

250000

14/03/2019

0.20

256,350

0.9989

251,565

3.13%% CREDIT AGRICOLE

250000

15/04/2019

0.29

250,200

1.00143

252,088

Short term deposits presented under ‘cash and
cash equivalents’

LOF (CH) ST MON MK USD MA

941,640
Total

1,949,962
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Exhibit 2a:
Schedule of unrestricted grant revenue

2018

68

2017

Donor

Funds B/F

Received

Accounts
receivable

Advance
payment

Grant revenue

China

-

-

29

-

29

-

Philippines

-

16

-

-

16

-

Germany

-

-

-

-

-

305

Total

-

16

29

-

45

305
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(In thousands of United States dollars)

Analysis of sources and applications of restricted project grants

Exhibit 2b:

Exhibit 2b: Analysis of sources and applications of restricted project grants
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Exhibit 2b: Analysis of sources and applications of restricted project grants
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Exhibit 2b: Analysis of sources and applications of restricted project grants
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Exhibit 2b: Analysis of sources and applications of restricted project grants
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Exhibit 2b: Analysis of sources and applications of restricted project grants
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Exhibit 2b: Analysis of sources and applications of restricted project grants
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Exhibit 2b: Analysis of sources and applications of restricted project grants
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Exhibit 2b: Analysis of sources and applications of restricted project grants
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Exhibit 2b: Analysis of sources and applications of restricted project grants
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Exhibit 2b: Analysis of sources and applications of restricted project grants
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Exhibit 2b: Analysis of sources and applications of restricted project grants
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Exhibit 2b: Analysis of sources and applications of restricted project grants
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Exhibit 2b: Analysis of sources and applications of restricted project grants
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Exhibit 2b: Analysis of sources and applications of restricted project grants
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Exhibit 2b: Analysis of sources and applications of restricted project grants
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Exhibit 2b: Analysis of sources and applications of restricted project grants
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Exhibit 2b: Analysis of sources and applications of restricted project grants
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Exhibit 2b: Analysis of sources and applications of restricted project grants
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Exhibit 2b: Analysis of sources and applications of restricted project grants
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Exhibit 3: Statement of overhead expenses

Exhibit 3:
Statement of overhead expenses
(in thousands of United States dollars)
2018

2017

Research expenses and non-CGIAR collaboration

48,056

47,368

General and administration expenses

10,036

7,692

Total costs

58,092

55,060

Percentage indirect/direct

20.9%

16.2%
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Exhibit 4: African Women in Agricultural Research and Development Programme

Exhibit 4:
African Women in Agricultural Research and
Development (AWARD) Programme
(in thousands of United States dollars)

2018

2017

4,562

9,680

(37)

(2,634)

50

-

Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation (AWARD) GRARD

2,582

-

Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation (AWARD) One Planet

1,960

-

AFDB

-

276

USAID Country Missions

-

588

MULT

177

55

ACIAR

148

-

SPC

74

-

ILRI

66

-

Interest Earned

57

64

9,638

8,028

Personnel costs

1,309

1,228

Professional services and Supplies

1,529

1,371

998

867

Total

3,836

3,466

Grants balance c/f (deficit)

5,802

4,562

Brought Forward
Less adjustment for BMGF 1206 grant income
Receipts during the year
AGROPOLIS

Total
Expenditure

Operational travel
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Exhibit 5: CGIAR research programmes

Exhibit 5:
CGIAR research programmes
CGIAR Research Program: Water, Land and Ecosystem
For the year ended 31 December 2018
(in thousands of United States dollars)

Expenditure Report					
Expenses by Natural
Classification

W1
+ W2
Funds

Window 3

Centre
Own
Funds

Total

510

-

689

-

1,199

CGIAR Collaboration Costs

-

-

-

-

-

Non-CGIAR Collaboration
Costs

-

-

4

-

4

107

-

628

-

735

16

-

141

-

156

Depreciation/Amortization

-

-

8

-

8

Cost Sharing Percentage

-

-

24

-

24

Total Direct Costs

633

-

1,494

-

2,127

Indirect Costs

114

-

197

-

311

Total Costs

747

-

1,691

-

2,438

-

-

-

-

-

747

-

1,691

-

2,438

Personnel Costs

Supplies and Services
Travel Costs

Deferred depreciation
Grand Total - All Costs

Bilateral

Funding Report		
Income

Total

OP. BALANCE

(80)

WLE W1+W2
funds

751

TOTAL

671

Expenditure

Total

WLE W1+W2
funds

747

TOTAL
EXPENDITURE

747

BALANCE

(76)
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Exhibit 5: CGIAR research programmes

CGIAR Research Program: Policies Institutions and Markets
For the year ended 31 December 2018
(in thousands of United States dollars)

Expenditure Report					
Expenses by Natural
Classification

W1
+ W2
Funds

Window 3

Centre
Own
Funds

Total

126

-

134

-

259

CGIAR Collaboration Costs

-

-

-

-

-

Non-CGIAR Collaboration
Costs

-

-

-

-

-

Supplies and Services

78

-

78

-

156

Travel Costs

10

-

22

-

31

Depreciation/Amortization

-

-

-

-

-

Cost Sharing Percentage

-

-

1

-

1

213

-

234

-

447

38

-

21

-

59

252

-

255

-

506

-

-

-

-

-

252

-

255

-

506

Personnel Costs

Total Direct Costs
Indirect Costs
Total Costs
Deferred depreciation
Grand Total - All Costs

Bilateral

Funding Report		
Income

Total

OP. BALANCE

(125)

PIMZ W1+W2
funds

124

TOTAL
Expenditure

1
Total

PIMZ W1+W2
funds

252

TOTAL
EXPENDITURE

252

BALANCE

(253)

CGIAR Research Program: Forests Trees and Agroforestry
For the year ended 31 December 2018
(in thousands of United States dollars)

Expenditure Report					
Expenses by Natural
Classification

W1
+ W2
Funds

Window 3

Centre
Own
Funds

Total

1,443

2,292

6,327

-

10,062

-

1,093

205

-

1,298

Non-CGIAR Collaboration
Costs

224

6,763

2,424

-

9,411

Supplies and Services

308

1,790

6,985

-

99

492

1,526

Depreciation/Amortization

-

54

Cost Sharing Percentage

-

Personnel Costs

Income

Total

OP. BALANCE

(141)

ETA W1+W2
funds

2,480

TOTAL

2,621

9,083

Expenditure

Total

-

2,117

2,448

570

-

624

FTA W1+W2
Expenses

(8)

195

-

187

TOTAL
EXPENDITURE

2,448

2,074

12,475

18,232

-

32,781

373

949

2,254

-

3,577

2,448

13,425

20,486

-

36,358

-

-

-

-

-

2,448

13,425

20,486

-

36,358

CGIAR Collaboration Costs

Travel Costs

Total Direct Costs
Indirect Costs
Total Costs
Deferred depreciation
Grand Total - All Costs
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Bilateral

Funding Report		

Audited Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2018

BALANCE

(173)

Exhibit 5: CGIAR research programmes

CGIAR Research Program: Genebanks
For the year ended 31 December 2018
(in thousands of United States dollars)

Expenditure Report					
Expenses by Natural
Classification

Centre
Own
Funds

Total

-

-

658

-

-

-

-

36

-

-

-

36

393

-

-

-

393

70

-

-

-

70

Depreciation/Amortization

-

-

-

-

-

Cost Sharing Percentage

-

-

-

-

-

1,157

-

-

-

1,157

202

-

-

-

202

1,359

-

-

-

1,359

-

-

-

-

-

1,359

-

-

-

1,359

Personnel Costs

W1
+ W2
Funds

Window 3

658

-

-

Funding Report		

CGIAR Collaboration Costs
Non-CGIAR Collaboration
Costs
Supplies and Services
Travel Costs

Total Direct Costs
Indirect Costs
Total Costs
Deferred depreciation
Grand Total - All Costs

Bilateral

Income

Total

OP. BALANCE

(136)

GCDT W1+W2
funds

1,160

TOTAL

1,024

Expenditure

Total

GCDT W1+W2
Expenses

1,359

TOTAL
EXPENDITURE

1,359

BALANCE

(334)

CGIAR Research Program: Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security
For the year ended 31 December 2018
(in thousands of United States dollars)

Expenditure Report					
Expenses by Natural
Classification

W1
+ W2
Funds

Window 3

Centre
Own
Funds

Total

352

-

509

-

862

-

-

-

-

-

Non-CGIAR Collaboration
Costs

253

-

58

-

311

Supplies and Services

247

32

527

-

806

84

0

204

-

288

Depreciation/Amortization

-

-

-

-

-

Cost Sharing Percentage

-

-

25

-

25

Total Direct Costs

937

32

1,323

-

2,291

Indirect Costs

169

5

196

-

370

1,105

37

1,519

-

2,661

-

-

-

-

-

1,105

37

1,519

-

2,661

Personnel Costs
CGIAR Collaboration Costs

Travel Costs

Total Costs
Deferred depreciation
Grand Total - All Costs

Bilateral

Funding Report		
Income
OP. BALANCE

Total
(78)

FTA W1+W2
funds

1,358

TOTAL

1,280

Expenditure

Total

FTA W1+W2
Expenses

1,105

TOTAL
EXPENDITURE

1,105

BALANCE

175
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Exhibit 5: CGIAR research programmes

CGIAR Research Program: Big Data In Agriculture
For the year ended 31 December 2018
(in thousands of United States dollars)

Expenditure Report					
Expenses by Natural
Classification

W1
+ W2
Funds

Window 3

47

-

CGIAR Collaboration Costs

-

Non-CGIAR Collaboration
Costs

Funding Report		
Centre
Own
Funds

Total

-

-

47

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

137

-

-

-

137

45

-

-

-

45

Depreciation/Amortization

-

-

-

-

-

Cost Sharing Percentage

-

-

-

-

-

229

-

-

-

229

38

-

-

-

38

268

-

-

-

268

-

-

-

-

-

268

-

-

-

268

Personnel Costs

Supplies and Services
Travel Costs

Total Direct Costs
Indirect Costs
Total Costs
Deferred depreciation
Grand Total - All Costs

Bilateral

Income

Total

OP. BALANCE

(29)

BIG DATA
W1+W2 funds

218

TOTAL

189

Expenditure

Total

BIG DATA
W1+W2
Expenses

268

TOTAL
EXPENDITURE

268

BALANCE

(79)

CGIAR Research Program: Grain Legumes and Dryland Cereals
For the year ended 31 December 2018
(in thousands of United States dollars)

Expenditure Report					
Expenses by Natural
Classification

W1
+ W2
Funds

Window 3

Centre
Own
Funds

Total

178

502

-

-

679

CGIAR Collaboration Costs

-

25

-

-

25

Non-CGIAR Collaboration
Costs

-

2,529

-

-

2,529

Supplies and Services

68

304

-

-

371

Travel Costs

39

69

-

-

108

Depreciation/Amortization

-

-

-

-

-

Cost Sharing Percentage

-

-

-

-

-

284

3,429

-

-

3,713

51

347

-

-

398

335

3,776

-

-

4,111

-

-

-

-

-

335

3,776

-

-

4,111

Personnel Costs

Total Direct Costs
Indirect Costs
Total Costs
Deferred depreciation
Grand Total - All Costs
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Bilateral

Funding Report		
Income

Total

OP. BALANCE

-

GLDC W1+W2
funds

199

TOTAL

199

Expenditure

Total

GLDC W1+W2
Expenses

335

TOTAL
EXPENDITURE

335

BALANCE

(136)
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Science for a food-secure future

World Agroforestry, United Nations Avenue, Gigiri
PO Box 30677–00100, Nairobi, Kenya.
Phone: + (254) 20 7224000, Fax: +(254) 20 722 4001,
Via USA phone (1-650) 833-6645,
Via USA fax (1-650) 833-6646,
Email: worldagroforestry@cgiar.org
Website: www.worldagroforestry.org

